
 

STRATFORD PUBLI C LIBRARY BOARD 

AGENDA 
Tuesday December 10, 2024, 6:45pm   |   Hybrid Meeting  

 
 

1. Call to Order and Land Acknowledgment – M. Corbett 

2. Chairperson’s Remarks 

3. Declarations of Pecuniary Interest and the General Nature Thereof 

4. Approval of the Agenda 
5. Delegations 

6. Approval of the minutes of the meeting of November 12, 2024 

7. Approval of the minutes of the Closed Session of November 12, 2024 

8. Business arising from the minutes 
8.1. Perth South Contract 

9. Board Education 

9.1. OLA Super Conference Library Trustee Bootcamp – February 1, 2025 
10. Business of the Board 

10.1. Report from PCIN – E. Perin, M. Corbett 
10.2. Report from OLS – D. Mackey 
10.3. Report from City Council – J. Burbach 
10.4. Performance Review Committee 
10.5. Library Space Ad Hoc Committee 
10.6. 2025 Policy Review Schedule 
10.7. 2025 Board Agenda / Workplan 

11. CEO Reports 

11.1. Monitoring Report and Financial Report YTD 
11.2. 2022 Audited Financial Report for review and approval 
11.3. Draft 2025 Workplan 
11.4. Policy Updates 

11.4.1. HR 04 Health and Safety Policy 
11.4.2. HR 05 Respect in the Workplace Policy  

11.1. Canada Helps Donations 
12. Correspondence 
13. Other Business 

14. Confirmation of date and time of next meeting: January 14, 2025 at 6:45pm 

15. Adjournment 
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STRATFORD PUBLIC LIBRARY BOARD 

MINUTES 
Tuesday, November 12, 2024 6:45pm   |   Hybrid Meeting 

 
MEMBERS OF THE BOARD PRESENT 
Laurie Brown, Philip Connolly, Michael Corbett, Mackenzie Kipfer (zoom), Kaitlyn Kochany (zoom), Patty Lewis, 
David Mackey, Emma Perin, Arnab Quadry, Chris Zonneville  

REGRETS 
Jo-Dee Burbach 
 
MEMBERS OF STAFF PRESENT  
Krista Robinson, CEO; Cathy Perreault, Recording Secretary;  

 

1. Call to Order and Land Acknowledgment 
The meeting was called to order at the Stratford Public Library by Chair M. Corbett at 6:45 pm. 

2. Chairperson’s Remarks 
M. Corbett opened the meeting by discussing current news events regarding libraries. 

3. Declarations of Pecuniary Interest and the General Nature Thereof 
None 

4. Approval of the Agenda  

2024-58 Moved by D. Mackey, seconded by P. Lewis to approve the agenda as amended.   

Addition of 10.8 Social and Economic impact of libraries 
CARRIED 

5. Delegations 

6. Approval of the minutes 

2024-59 Moved by E. Perin, seconded by C. Zonneville that the minutes of the meeting of October 8, 
2024 be approved as amended 
CARRIED 

7. Approval of the minutes of the Closed Session 

2024-60 Moved by C. Zonneville, seconded by D. Mackey that the minutes of the meeting of October 8, 
2024 be approved as amended. 
CARRIED 

8. Business arising from the minutes 
P. Lewis asked if City Council had received the partnership report from the Grand Trunk advisory committee.  
They have not. 
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9. Board Education: 

9.1. OLA Super Conference Library Trustee Bootcamp – February 1, 2025 
Please let Cathy know if you wish to attend. 

9.2. PCIN Strategic Plan – E. Perin 
Emma presented the process involved in creating the PCIN Strategic Plan.  The Board commended 
the work involved and will continue to support PCIN initiatives. 

10. Business of the Board 

10.1. Report from PCIN: Will be meeting on November 13.   

10.2. Report from OLS: Board Assembly is November 13.   

10.3. Report from City Council:  None. 

10.4. Library Space Ad Hoc Committee: Meetings with key partners are continuing. 

10.5. 2025 Schedule of Board Meetings: 

2024-61 Moved by C. Zonneville, seconded by A. Quadry to approve the 2025 Proposed Meeting   
Schedule as amended and to proceed with the creation of a Ad Hoc Budget Committee.   

 CARRIED 

Approved Schedule 
January 14 
February 11 
No March meeting 
April 8 
May 13 
June 10 
June 24    Budget meeting 
No July Meeting 
No August Meeting 
September 9 
October 14 
November 18 
December 9 

10.6. 2025 Schedule of Library Closures: 

 
2024-62 Moved by L. Brown, seconded by K. Kochany to approved the 2025 Public Holidays and 

Scheduled Closures as presented. 
CARRRIED 

10.7. Library Board Governance ByLaws:  No further changes were recommended by the lawyer. 

10.8. Social and Economic Impact of Libraries: M. Corbett will share documents and encourages all board 
members to research and share their findings. 
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11. CEO Report 

11.1. Monitoring Reports and Financials 

2024-63 Moved by E. Perin, seconded by L. Brown to accept the CEO Monitoring Reports.  

CARRIED 

11.2 Draft 2025 Workplan: For information and future evaluation. 

12. Closed Session:   

12.1 Contract Negotiations 

2024-64 Moved by E. Perin, seconded by A. Quadry to move to closed session (8:12pm) 

 CARRIED 
 
2024-65 Moved by P. Lewis, seconded by D. Mackey to return to open session. (8:23pm) 
 CARRIED 
    

13. Correspondence: None 

14. Other Business:   

14.1. Discussion regarding correspondence with delegations.  This has been addressed in the bylaws. 

14.2. M. Corbett mentioned that the Board Strategic Plan will begin review in 2025. 

14.3. Holiday social to follow after next meeting. Details to be finalized. 

15. Confirmation of date and time of next meeting: December 10, 2024 at 6:45pm 

16. Adjournment 
2024-66 Moved K. Kochany that the meeting adjourned at 8.44 pm. 

  CARRIED 
 
 
 
 
 
______________________________   ________________________________ 

Krista Robinson, CEO     Michael Corbett, Chair 
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SPL Report to the Board 
MEETING DATE: JANUARY 14, 2025 
FROM: KRISTA ROBINSON, CEO | LIBRARY DIRECTOR 
SUBJECT:  2025 POLICY REVIEW SCHEDULE 

2025 POLICY REVIEW SCHEDULE 

Policies requiring review and updating in 2025 have been categorized and scheduled to ensure they are all 
addressed this year. 

A policy review committee will meet and review any and all policy amendment recommendations provided by 
the CEO prior the noted board meeting and bring any proposed changes to the board for adoption.  

Below you will find a breakdown of Library Board and Operational Policies requiring updates in 2025, as well as 
identified new policies which will be coming forward for consideration.  

 Board Policies to be Updated Operational Policies to Review & Approve 
February  OP 01 Room Rentals 
April   
May   OP 06 Working from Home 
June  HR 03 Staff Manual  
September  OP 02 Partnership Framework 
October NEW Donation Policy 

NEW Fundraising and Gift Acceptance Policy 
 

November    
December HR 04 Health and Safety Policy 

HR 05 Respect in the Workplace Policy 
 

 
BOARD ACTION  
Submitted to the board for discussion and committee sign up. 



 

November 28, 2024 

STRATFORD PUBLIC LIBRARY BOARD 
2025 Annual Agenda / Workplan 

Month Governance / Strategic Issues 
(activities in order to fulfill accountability obligations | policy 
development, review and revision, financial oversight, connections with 
council and community, monitoring and evaluation, committee work 
e.g. CEO appraisal, facility planning, recruitment) 

Information Needed 
(reports and monitoring documents and additional 
information required to support discussion of and 
action on strategic issues) 

Board Actions 
(proposed actions as a result of governance and 
/ or strategic issue and discussion) 

January • Library Board Chair Election 
• Library Board Vice Chair Election 
• Review of 2024 Strategic Actions Completed 
• Review of 2024 Q4 and Annual Statistics  

• 2024 Strategic Actions Completed 
Report 

• 2024 Year End Statistics Report 

• OLA Super Conference / OLBA 
Boot Camp attendance 

February • Review of Room Rental policy 
• CEO Performance Review Committee  
• Budget Ad Hoc Committee Selected 

• Drafted Policies 
• Budget Ad Hoc Committee Terms of 

Reference 

• Sharing OLA Takeaways 
• Selection of Budget AHC 

members 
• Performance Review 

Committee provides feedback 
to Chair / Vice Chair 

March No regular meeting scheduled  • CEO Performance Review by 
Chair and Vice Chair 

April • Review of 2024 Annual Report 
• Socio-Economic Impact of SPL (VOLT) 
• Review of Q1 Statistics 
• CEO Performance Review and Approval 

• Drafted Annual Report 
• Drafted Socio-Economic Impact 
• Q1 Statistics Report 
• CEO Performance Review 

 

May • Review Working from Home policy 
• Library Board Self Evaluation 

• Drafted Policies • Presentation of the 2024 
Annual Report to Council 

• Completion of Assessment 
Questionnaire 

June • Review Staff Manual  
• Q2 Statistics & CEO Mid-year Workplan Review 

• Drafted Polices 
• Q2 Statistics & Mid-year review 

update 
• Board Assessment Results 

• CEO Performance Review 
Committee attends Agenda 
preparation meeting with CEO 
and Chair / Vice Chair 
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June Budget 
Meeting 

• Detailed Budget Overview   

July • No regular meeting scheduled   
August • No regular meeting scheduled   
September • 2025 Budget Review 

• Review Partnership Framework policy 
• Draft 2025 Budget 
• Drafted Policies 

• Approve 2025 Budget 

October • New Donation Policy 
• New Fundraising and Gift Acceptance Policy 
• Q3 Statistics and CEO Workplan Review 

• Drafted Policies 
• Q3 CEO Workplan and Statistics 
 

• Ontario Public Library Week 
• Decide on Holiday 

celebrations 
November  • 2026 Schedule of Board Meetings 

• 2026 Schedule of Library Closures 
• CEO Workplan for 2026 
• Strategic Planning Discussion 

• Drafted Policies 
• 2026 Draft CEO Workplan 

• Presentation of Budget to 
Council 

December • Review Health and Safety Policy 
• Review Respect in the Workplace Policy 
• OLA Conference Attendance Confirmation 
• CEO Workplan Approved for coming year 
• Canada Helps Donation Transfer  

• Drafted Policies 
• 2026 Library Board Workplan  
• Donation Report 

 

 

  

 

  



 

SPL Report to the Board 
MEETING DATE: DECEMBER 10, 2024 
FROM: KRISTA ROBINSON, CEO | LIBRARY DIRECTOR 
SUBJECT:  CEO MONITORING REPORT 

 

Financial Condition 
• As of November 30, all 2024 expenses are tracking per estimates. We do anticipate a small surplus at 

year end.  
• The 2025 Budget discussions are ongoing. The CEO presented the Library Board’s 2025 budget estimates 

on November 28. There was one question related to funding to date for a new building. Additional 
meetings will be held on December 3, and December 9.  

• The Audited Financial Statements for 2022 have been completed were approved by City Council on 
November 25, 2024. The Library Board needs to review and approve them separately. Library 
information is located on page 22.  

• SPL’s MakerSpace was the recipient of a generous donation from the Start Stratford Arts Show, in the 
amount of $2,288. These funds have been deposited in the Library Board account until a plan for them 
has been determined.  

For Your Information 
Staffing Updates 

• Interviews and hiring of the Marketing and Communications Coordinator position are underway. The 
new position is anticipated to start January 6. 

• Two staff will be presenting at the OLA SuperConference. Brooke Windsor, Teen Outreach and 
Collections Librarian will be presenting “How Do You Come Up With This Stuff” Investigating Creativity 
for Programs and Services, and Trish MacGregor, PLOW and Children’s Librarian will be presenting 
“Outreach Programming: The Bridge to Everywhere”.   

• Brandi Gillett, Community Outreach Supervisor, completed the Advancing Public Library Leadership 
program. APLL is a two-year certificate program designed to expand and advance the leadership 
capacity of public library CEOs and managers. 

General News 
• LED lighting upgrades have been completed. Brightness levels will be adjusted and ceiling tiles replaced 

as time allows.  
• The Library participated in the Parade of Lights event on November 30. The PLOW van was decorated 

with lights and bows, and staff pushed a number of reindeer themed book carts.  
• SPL honoured Treaties Recognition Week in Ontario November 3-9. A map of treaties in Ontario, a map 

of the Huron Tract, and the Library’s new Land Acknowledgement have all been hung on the main floor 
of the library.  

• Ontario Library Service (OLS) has migrated to a new Inter Library Loan (ILLO) platform as of November 
12th, 2024. This migration has been underway for many months and SPL staff have been involved in the 
evaluation of, and training on, the new system. Unfortunately due to the Canada Post strike, use of the 
new platform has been limited.   

• The Huron Perth Public Health completed a satisfactory Food Safety Inspection on the Snack Shop.  
  



 
 

 
 

• The Canada Post Strike has impacted the library in a couple of ways: 
• Interlibrary Loans between libraries in Canada has been paused 
• Library notices are no longer being mailed. Staff are contacting patrons by phone as necessary 

• MP Nater’s office has provided the library with an official portrait of the King to replace the Queen’s 
portrait on the main floor of the library. The portrait was presented on December 6. 

Programming News 
• On November 13, staff ran a Swiftie Party, celebrating the popular music artist Taylor Swift and her Eras 

tour coming to Canada. This event was an outstanding success, with approximately 330 in attendance.  
Feedback was very positive: 
• “Wow, what a wonderful night, my kids loved it but so did I” 
• “The library sure has changed since I was a kid, the library is always coming up with new ideas. Even 

though I'm not a Swift fan, this is great!” 
• “Even though I'm not participating in the excitement, it is so fun to watch, love it!” 
• “What a fun night, how is the library going to top this one!” 

• The Library hosted an event alongside Invest Stratford as part of the Provocation Festival on November 
30. The event was called Reimagining Stratford: Designing the Future City and was a dynamic 
community-based exploration of citizen-powered urban development, envisioning the future we want 
for Stratford and the path to achieving it. 

• The MakerSpace created two 3D printed QR codes for University of Waterloo’s Stratford School of 
Interaction Design and Business’s installation for Lights On.  

Select CEO Activities 
• November 18: Meeting – Corporation Leadership Team Joint discussion regarding Q1 2025 plans 
• November 18: Meeting - Grand Trunk Ad Hoc Committee Library  
• November 20: Advocacy – Perth Municipal Day 
• November 22: Meeting – downloadLibrary meeting 
• November 26-27: Training – Mental Health First Aid 
• December 5: Meeting - CAO Check-in meeting 

News and Coming Events 
SPL in the News 

• Hungry Minds Food Drive coming in December  Nov 8 | Stratford Today 
• Applications open for Stratford’s first ever Poet Laureate Program  Nov 14, Stratford Today 
• Aging with Agility to set to begin at Stratford Public Library  Nov 18, Stratford Today 
• Stratford Arts and Culture Collective to GTR Committee: We Want In  Nov 21, Stratford Today  
• Meditation and Labyrinth walking workshop coming to the Library  Nov 26, Stratford Today 

Upcoming Events 
• Hungry Minds Food Drive – Dec 2 – 8 (donations to be collected for the Snack stop) 
• Lights On Stratford – Stratford Show Us Your Voice!  
• Library Closures: Dec 24 at noon, Dec 25, 26, 31 at noon and Jan 1 

https://www.stratfordtoday.ca/local-news/hungry-minds-food-drive-coming-in-december-9780319
https://www.stratfordtoday.ca/local-news/applications-open-for-stratfords-first-ever-poet-laureate-program-9807520
https://www.stratfordtoday.ca/local-news/aging-with-agility-set-to-begin-at-stratford-public-library-9816985
https://www.stratfordtoday.ca/local-news/stratford-arts-and-culture-collective-to-gtr-committee-we-want-in-9840380
https://www.stratfordtoday.ca/coping/meditation-and-labyrinth-walking-workshop-coming-to-the-library-9861025
https://splibrary.ca/events/stratford-show-us-your-voice


STRATFORD PUBLIC LIBRARY MONTHLY STATEMENT

For period ending November 26, 2024

 YTD ACTUAL 
 YTD BUDGET           
(straight line)                        

VARIANCE
 ($) VARIANCE (%)  2024 BUDGET %

MUNICIPAL FUNDING 2,670,762                     2,670,762                          -                       0% 2,913,558                -8%

REVENUE -$                     
CANADA GRANTS 8,872                             7,498                                  1,374                   18% 8,180                        8%
ANNUAL PROVINCIAL FUNDING -                                 52,435                               52,435-                 -100% 57,202                     -100%
OTHER MUNICIPALITIES 25,513                           41,690                               16,177-                 -39% 45,480                     -44%
FINES & FEES 11,025                           7,792                                  3,233                   41% 8,500                        30%
DONATIONS 6,554                             4,583                                  1,971                   43% 5,000                        31%
RECOVERABLES 15,651                           8,569                                  7,082                   83% 9,348                        67%
RECOVERABLE - PCIN to SPL 96,631                           88,578                               8,053                   9% 96,631                     0%

Total REVENUE 2,835,008$                   2,881,907$                        46,900-$               -2% 3,143,899$              -10%

EXPENSES
WAGES & BENEFITS 2,015,521                     2,210,973                          195,451-           -9% 2,411,970                -16%
BUILDING EXPENSES 59,599                           87,233                               27,634-             -32% 95,163                     -37%
COMMUNICATIONS & INTERNET 14,014                           18,333                               4,320-               -24% 20,000                     -30%
VEHICLES 570                                2,521                                  1,950-               -77% 2,750                        -79%
MEMBERSHIPS 2,839                             2,521                                  318                   13% 2,750                        3%
TRAINING 11,330                           20,167                               8,837-               -44% 22,000                     -49%
COLLECTION MAINTENANCE 3,461                             2,292                                  1,169               51% 2,500                        38%
OFFICE SUPPLIES 18,469                           23,687                               5,218-               -22% 25,840                     -29%
ADVERTISING & PRINTING 17,501                           14,667                               2,834               19% 16,000                     9%
MAINTENANCE CONTRACTS 420                                348                                     71                     21% 380                           10%
MAINTENANCE CONTRACTS - SPL to PCIN 75,926                           69,599                               6,327               9% 75,926                     0%
SUPPLIES & EQUIPMENT 5,694                             16,913                               11,218-             -66% 18,450                     -69%
MILEAGE 1,052                             2,823                                  1,771-               -63% 3,080                        -66%
LEGAL FEES 11,513                           4,583                                  6,930               151% 5,000                        130%
PROGRAMMING & MAKERSPACE 32,239                           12,691                               19,548             154% 13,845                     133%
CONTRACTORS 31,642                           14,208                               17,434             123% 15,500                     104%
BOARD EXPENSES 5,633                             5,986                                  352-                   -6% 6,530                        -14%
RESERVES 304,658                         372,359                             67,702-             -18% 406,210                   -25%

Total EXPENSES 2,612,080$                   2,881,903$                        269,822-$            -9% 3,143,894$              -17%

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) 222,927$                      222,923$            

CAPITAL - subset of Reserves
COLLECTIONS 194,430                         208,239                             13,809-             -7% 227,170$                 -14%
TECHNOLOGY 30,674                           45,100                               14,426-             -32% 49,200$                   -38%
PROJECT

Total CAPITAL EXPENSES 225,104$                      253,339$                           28,235-$               -11% 276,370$                 -19%

BALANCE SHEET           ASSETS
LIBRO (as of October 31, 2024) 116,451$                      
STRATFORD PERTH COMMUNITY FOUNDATION 254,366$                      
Total CASH ASSETS 370,818$                      

FUNDS
UNAUDITERD LIBRARY RESERVE FUND 379,307                         
UNAUDITERD DEVELOPMENT CHARGE LIBRARY FUND 1,241,404                     
(as of December 31, 2023)
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CITY OF STRATFORD 
   Corporate Services Department 

City Hall, P.O. Box 818  
 Stratford, ON N5A 6W1 

 
(519) 271 -0250 

Fax: (519) 273 -5041 
www.stratford.ca 

 
Management Report 
 
The accompanying consolidated financial statements of The Corporation of the City of 
Stratford are the responsibility of the City’s management and have been prepared in 
accordance with Canadian Public Sector Accounting standards. The preparation of the 
financial statements necessarily involves the use of estimates based on management’s 
judgment, particularly when transactions affecting the current accounting period cannot 
be finalized with certainty until future periods. 
 
The Corporation maintains a system of internal controls designed to provide reasonable 
assurance that the financial information is relevant, reliable, and accurate, that 
transactions are properly authorized and the Corporation’s assets are properly accounted 
for and adequately safeguarded. 
 
The financial statements have been examined by Millard, Rouse and Rosebrugh, LLP, 
Chartered Professional Accountants, the external auditors for the Corporation. The 
responsibility of the external auditor is to express an opinion on whether the financial 
statements are fairly presented, in all material respects, in accordance with Canadian 
Public Sector Accounting standards. 
 
Stratford City Council, through the Audit Committee, is responsible for ensuring that 
management fulfills its responsibility for financial reporting and internal control. The Audit 
Committee meets periodically with management, as well as with the external auditors to 
satisfy itself that each party is properly discharging its responsibilities with respect to 
internal controls and financial reporting. 
 
The Audit Committee meets with management and the external auditors to review the 
consolidated financial statements and discuss any significant financial reporting or internal 
control matters prior to their approval of the consolidated financial statements. 

      
Karmen Krueger, CPA, CA     Michael Koktan, CPA, CA 
Director of Corporate Services/Treasurer   Manager of Financial Services 
 
Stratford, Ontario, Canada 
 
December 2, 2024 



 INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 

To the Members of Council, Inhabitants and Ratepayers of 
The Corporation of the City of Stratford 

Opinion 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of The Corporation of the City of Stratford (the 
'Corporation'), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2022, and the 
consolidated statements of operations, changes in net financial assets and cash flows for the year then ended, and 
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
consolidated financial position of the Corporation as at December 31, 2022, and the consolidated results of its 
operations, its consolidated changes and net assets and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards. 

Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of Financial Statements 
section of our report. We are independent of the Corporation in accordance with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as management 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Corporation's 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Corporation or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Corporation's financial reporting process. 

Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors' report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial 
statements. As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.  
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We also: 
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due 

to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the Corporation's internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that 
may cast significant doubt on the Corporation's ability to continue as a going concern.  If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors' report to the related disclosures 
in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions 
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors' report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the Corporation to cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the group Entity to express an opinion on the financial statements. We are responsible for 
the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit 
opinion. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit. 

November 25, 2024 CHARTERED PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNTANTS 
Brantford, Ontario Licensed Public Accountants 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF STRATFORD 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

As at December 31 2022 2021 

Financial Assets 
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 2) 39,886,053 43,201,943 
Taxes receivable 2,490,604 2,224,491 
Trade and other receivable 18,131,205 10,857,984 
Loans receivable (Note 3) 904,359 1,101,008 
Investments (Note 4) 28,463,673 26,394,975 
Investment in government business enterprises (Note 5) 51,285,420 47,484,869 
Land held for resale 347,651 347,651 

141,508,965 131,612,921 

Financial Liabilities 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 23,308,601 21,452,173 
Deferred revenue (Note 7) 30,289,872 26,726,239 
Solid waste landfill closure and post closure liability (Note 8) 3,736,000 3,620,000 
Employee benefits payable (Note 10) 15,781,318 15,234,090 
Long-term debt (Note 11) 49,505,852 49,775,859 

122,621,643 116,808,361 

Net Financial Assets 18,887,322 14,804,560 

Non-Financial Assets 
Tangible capital assets (Note 20) 342,667,114 317,863,185 
Inventory 314,853 317,629 
Prepaid expenses 832,382 715,791 
Other non-financial assets (Spruce Lodge) 62,133 46,119 

343,876,482 318,942,724 

Total Net Assets 362,763,804 333,747,284 

Accumulated Surplus (Note 13) 362,763,804 333,747,284 

Contractual Obligations (Note 9) 
Contingencies (Note 14) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

4 



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF STRATFORD 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS AND ACCUMULATED SURPLUS 

For the year ended December 31 2022 2022 2021 
Budget 

(Note 21) 

Revenue 
Net municipal taxation 68,826,984 68,549,192 63,776,067 
Payments-in-lieu of taxation - 512,484 492,423 
Conditional grants 30,849,323 45,172,093 38,518,425 
Revenue from other municipalities 7,473,377 10,810,051 11,759,586 
User fees and service charges 24,154,500 26,893,006 24,384,711 
Licenses, permits and rents 4,765,611 7,176,903 4,507,268 
Fines and penalties 555,000 504,981 489,345 
Other revenue 2,465,774 5,123,528 4,268,903 
Income from government business enterprises - 6,214,976 2,414,465 

139,090,569 170,957,214 150,611,193 

Expenses 
General government 10,017,714 11,564,338 8,644,694 
Protection services 23,998,973 25,002,656 23,143,078 
Transportation services 12,186,301 15,233,109 14,429,286 
Environmental services 11,629,425 13,530,162 12,604,808 
Health services 8,995,016 9,665,847 10,085,063 
Social and family services 29,132,830 33,949,531 28,410,278 
Social housing 8,583,500 14,005,682 13,780,260 
Recreation and cultural services 12,143,689 12,566,066 11,367,789 
Planning and development 6,442,035 6,415,122 6,090,771 

123,129,483 141,932,513 128,556,027 

Annual Surplus 15,961,086 29,024,701 22,055,166 

Increase (decrease) in Net Municipal Position 15,961,086 29,024,701 22,055,166 

Change in proportionate consolidation (Note 18) - (8,181) (229,968) 

Opening Accumulated Surplus 333,747,284 333,747,284 311,922,086 

Ending Accumulated Surplus (Note 13) 349,708,370 362,763,804 333,747,284 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF STRATFORD 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET FINANCIAL ASSETS 

For the year ended December 31 2022 
Budget 

(Note 21) 

2022 2021 

Annual Surplus 15,961,086 29,024,701 22,055,166 

Acquisition of tangible capital assets (40,235,075) (25,968,722) (23,924,812) 
Acquisition of tangible capital assets - WIP - (9,450,314) (2,743,865) 
Amortization of tangible capital assets 10,035,361 10,035,361 9,879,261 
(Gain)/loss on disposal of tangible capital assets - 518,760 191,319 
Proceeds from sale of tangible capital assets - 44,624 37,618 

(14,238,628) 4,204,410 5,494,687 
Change in inventory - 2,776 14,238 
Change in other non-financial assets - (16,014) 102,119 
Change in prepaid expenses - (116,591) 818,691 
Change in Net Financial Assets (Debt) (14,238,628) 4,074,581 6,429,735 

Net Financial Assets (Debt), Beginning of the Year 14,804,560 14,804,560 8,454,514 
Change in proportional consolidation (Note 18) 8,181 (79,689) 

Net Financial Assets (Debt), End of the Year 565,932 18,887,322 14,804,560 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF STRATFORD 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

For the year ended December 31 2022 2021 

Cash Provided By (Used In) 

Operating Activities 
   Annual Surplus 29,024,701 22,055,166 

Items not involving cash: 
   Amortization of tangible capital assets 10,035,361 9,879,261 
   Loss/(Gain) on disposal of tangible capital assets 518,760 191,319 
   Government business enterprise net earnings (4,439,150) (3,305,351) 

Changes in non-cash operating working capital: 
     Trade and other receivables (7,273,221) (4,005,562) 
     Taxes receivable (266,113) 160,563 
     Inventory 2,776 14,238 
     Prepaid expenses (116,591) 818,691 
     Other non-financial assets (16,014) 102,119 
     Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 1,856,428 5,325,238 
     Deferred revenue 3,563,633 3,290,533 
     Employee benefits payable 547,228 1,222,097 
     Solid waste landfill closure and post closure liability 116,000 283,093 

33,553,798 36,031,405 

Financing Activities 
Long-term debt advanced 5,349,833 -
Repayment of long-term debt (5,619,840) (6,253,872) 

(270,007) (6,253,872) 

Investing Activities 
Dividends from Government business enterprises 638,599 890,886 
Net increase in investments (2,068,698) (1,449,884) 
Net (increase)/decrease in loans receivable 196,649 191,043 

(1,233,450) (367,955) 

Capital Transactions 
Purchase of tangible capital assets (35,419,036) (26,668,677) 
Proceeds from the sale of tangible capital assets 44,624 37,618 

(35,374,412) (26,631,059) 

Change in Cash and Cash Equivalents (3,324,071) 2,778,519 

Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Year 43,201,943 40,503,113 
Change in proportionate consolidation (Note 18) 8,181 (79,689) 

Cash and Cash Equivalents,  End of Year 39,886,053 43,201,943 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF STRATFORD 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended December 31, 2022 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The consolidated financial statements of the Corporation of the City of Stratford (the “Corporation”) are 
prepared by management in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards for local 
governments as recommended by the Public Sector Accounting Board ("PSAB") of Chartered Professional 
Accountants Canada.  Significant aspects of accounting policies are as follows: 

(a) Reporting entities 
These consolidated financial statements reflect the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenditures of the 
Corporation and include the activities of all committees of Council and the following local boards, 
municipal enterprises and utilities which are accountable to the Corporation for the administration of their 
financial affairs and resources and are owned or controlled by the Corporation. 

(i) Consolidated entities: 

• Stratford Public Library 
• Police Services Board 
• Board of Parks 
• Downtown Stratford BIA 
• Perth & Stratford Housing Corporation 
• SEED Co. 

(ii) Proportionally consolidated entities: 
The following entities are proportionally consolidated with the financial statements of the 
Corporation based on an approved funding agreement effective January 1, 2022. 

2022 2021 
Perth District Health Unit 23.26% 23.40% 
Spruce Lodge Home for the Aged 41.11% 41.13% 
Spruce Lodge Home Assistance Corporation 41.11% 41.13% 
Spruce Lodge Foundation 41.11% 41.13% 

The method of consolidation is based on notional weighted assessment as stated in the new shared 
services costing agreement. 

(iii) Equity accounting: 
Government business enterprises are accounted for by the modified equity method. Under the 
modified equity method, the accounting principles of government business enterprises are not 
adjusted to conform to the Corporation's accounting principles and inter-organizational transactions 
and balances are not eliminated. However, inter-organizational gains and losses are eliminated on 
assets remaining with the government reporting entities at the reporting date. 

The government business enterprises include: 
• Festival Hydro Inc. 
• Festival Hydro Services Inc. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF STRATFORD 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended December 31, 2022 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

(b) Basis of accounting: 
Revenues and expenditures are reported on the accrual basis of accounting. The accrual basis of accounting 
recognizes revenues as they are earned and measurable. Expenditures are recognized as they are incurred 
and measurable as a result of the receipt of goods or services and the creation of a legal obligation to pay. 

(c) Cash and cash equivalents: 
Cash and cash equivalents are comprised of cash on hand, cash held in financial institutions and temporary 
investments with maturities of 60 days or less. 

(d) Bank indebtedness: 
Bank indebtedness is a fluctuating short term line of credit held in a financial institution. 

(e) Tangible capital assets: 
Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost, which includes all amounts that are directly attributable to 
acquisition, construction, development or betterment of the asset, and include interest charges when these 
charges are directly attributable to the capital project. Donated or contributed assets are capitalized and 
recorded at their estimated fair value upon acquisition. Leased capital assets are valued at the present value 
of the future minimum lease payments. Certain tangible capital assets for which historical cost information 
is not available have been recorded at current replacement cost deflated by a relevant inflation factor. 

Works of art and other historical treasures are accounted for in the same method as the other tangible 
capital assets, with the exception that they are not amortized. 

Work in progress identified in this and subsequent notes relates to assets under construction. The costs, less 
residual value, of the tangible capital assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated 
useful lives as follows: 

Land improvements 20 to 30 years 
Buildings and building equipment 15 to 50 years 
Computer equipment 5 years 
Furniture and fixtures 15 to 30 years 
Vehicles 2 to 25 years 
Machinery and equipment 5 to 25 years 
Linear assets 20 to 40 years 
Other capital assets 50 years 
Roads 15 to 60 years 
Bridges 60 to 75 years 
Water and wastewater facilities 35 to 100 years 
Underground and other networks 100 years 

(f) Land held for resale: 
The land held for resale is recorded at the lower of cost and net realizable value. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF STRATFORD 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended December 31, 2022 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

(g) Tax revenues: 
In 2022, the Corporation billed over $68.4 million in property tax revenue for municipal purposes. A 
further $11.5 million in provincial education taxes were collected on behalf of the Province of Ontario for 
education purposes and remitted to the Province during the year, and do not form part of these financial 
statements. The authority to levy and collect property taxes is established under the Municipal Act, 2001, 
the Assessment Act, the Education Act and other legislation. 

The amount of the total annual property tax levy is determined each year through Council's approval of the 
annual operating budget. Municipal tax rates are set annually by Council for each class or type of property, 
in accordance with provincial legislation and Council approved policies, in order to raise the revenues 
required to meet operating and capital budget requirements. Education tax rates are established by the 
Province of Ontario each year in order to fund the costs of education on a Province-wide basis. 

Taxation revenues are recorded at the time tax billings are issued. Additional property tax revenue can be 
added throughout the year, related to new properties that become occupied, or that become subject to 
property tax, after the return of the annual assessment roll used for billing purposes. The Corporation may 
receive supplementary assessment information over the course of the year from MPAC that identify new or 
previously omitted assessments. Property taxes for these supplemental/omitted amounts are then billed 
according to the approved tax rate for the applicable property class. 

Taxation revenues in any given year may also be reduced as a result of reductions in assessment values 
rising from assessment appeals. Each year, an amount is identified in the budget to cover the estimated 
amount of revenue loss attributable to assessment appeals, tax appeals, or other deficiencies in tax revenue. 

(h) Deferred revenue: 
The recreational land (Planning Act), development charges fund, and sub divider contributions are 
prescribed by legislation, or agreement and are reported as deferred revenue on the consolidated statement 
of financial position. Grants that are received in the year, but are subject to external restrictions that have 
not been fulfilled, are recorded in deferred revenue until those obligations are met. In addition, certain user 
charges and fees are collected for which the related services have yet to be performed. These amounts are 
recognized as revenue in the fiscal year the related expenditures are incurred or services performed. 

(i) Long-term investments: 
Long-term investments are recorded at cost less any amounts written-off to reflect a permanent decline in 
market value below cost. Investments consist of authorized investments pursuant to provisions of the 
Municipal Act and comprise government and corporate bonds, debentures, pooled investment funds and 
short-term instruments of various financial institutions. 

Investment income earned is reported as revenue in the period earned. Investment income earned on 
obligatory reserve funds is added to the fund balance and forms part of the respective deferred revenue 
balances. 

(j) Inventory: 
Inventory is valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value on a first-in, first-out basis. 

(k) Employee benefits payable: 
The Corporation provides post-retirement health care, life insurance and unused sick leave benefits to 
eligible retired employees. The benefits earned by employees are actuarially determined using 
management's best estimate of salary escalation, retirement ages of employees and expected benefit costs. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF STRATFORD 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended December 31, 2022 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

(k) Employee benefits payable (Continued): 
Past service costs from plan amendments related to prior period employee services are accounted for in the 
period of the plan amendment. The effects of a gain or loss from settlements or curtailments are expensed 
in the period they occur. Net actuarial gains and losses related to the employee benefits are amortized over 
the average remaining service life of the related employee group. Employee future benefit liabilities are 
discounted at the Corporation's cost of borrowing using estimated rates for debt with maturities similar to 
expected benefit payments in the future. The costs of workplace safety and insurance obligations are 
actuarially determined and are expensed. 

(l) Use of estimates: 
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with Canadian public sector 
accounting standards requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the 
consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting 
periods. The amounts subject to such estimates include employee benefits payable, assessment appeals, 
claims provisions, and solid waste landfill closure and post-closure liability. Actual results could differ 
significantly from those estimates. 

(m) Transactions on behalf of others: 
Trust funds operated by the Corporation amounting to $2,965,117 (2021 - $2,884,171) have not been 
included in the consolidated statement of financial position nor have their operations been included in the 
consolidated statement of operations, as they are reported on separately. The Trust funds held by the 
Corporation consist primarily of funds related to legislated perpetual care amounts and prepaids relating to 
cemetery activity. 

(n) Government transfer revenue: 
Government transfer revenue is recorded once it is authorized by the transferring government and the 
Corporation is eligible to receive the transfer. Any amount received but restricted is recorded as deferred 
revenue in accordance with Section 3410 of the Public Sector Accounting Handbook and recognized as 
revenue in the period in which the resources are used for the purpose specified. 

Government transfers include social assistance program funding representing 80-100% of certain social 
services programs, social service administration funding covering 50% of certain administration costs and 
transfers for social housing totaling approximately 20% of costs of the program. 

In addition, the Corporation periodically receives senior government capital funding in the form of 
infrastructure grants and receives ongoing funding from both senior levels of government as a result of an 
allocation of gas tax funds. 

(o) Contaminated sites: 
Public Sector Accounting Handbook section 3260 - Liability for Contaminated Sites, requires that the 
Corporation recognize a liability for remediation of contaminated sites when contamination of a site, for 
which the Corporation is directly responsible or accepts responsibility, exceeds an existing environmental 
standard and a reasonable estimate of the remediation costs can be made. The Corporation has established 
an inventory of municipally owned sites and is in the process of evaluating if it will be required to 
recognize a liability for remediation of any of the sites. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF STRATFORD 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended December 31, 2022 

2. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

The following is a breakdown of cash and cash equivalents and bank indebtedness: 
2022 2021 

General bank accounts 3,478,336 8,523,874 
General reserve bank accounts 36,404,380 34,674,432 
Petty cash 3,337 3,637 

39,886,053 43,201,943 

3. LOANS RECEIVABLE 

The following loans are outstanding at December 31: 
2022 2021

Stratford Perth Museum 256,333 269,966 
Heritage Conservation District Loans 32,709 49,002 
Stratford Soccer Association 50,000 60,000 
Stratford Perth Museum (2) 117,451 124,721 
Stratford Chef School 37,353 145,754 
Stratford Soccer Association Turf Field 410,513 451,565 

904,359 1,101,008 

The Stratford Perth Museum loan matures in 2037, has an interest rate of 3% with repayments of $1,791 
being made monthly. 

The Heritage Conservative District loans are interest-free 10 year loans with maturity dates between March 
2023 and July 2033. 

The Stratford Perth Museum (2) matures in 2038, has an interest rate of 0.5% with repayments of $656 
being made monthly. 

The Stratford Soccer Association loan is a 15 year interest-free loan maturing September 2028 with a 
yearly payment of $10,000. 

The Stratford Chef School loan is a 6 year loan at an interest rate of 5%. 

The Stratford Soccer Association turf field loan is a 15 year interest-free loan maturing December 2032 
with a yearly payment of $41,051. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF STRATFORD 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended December 31, 2022 

4. INVESTMENTS 

2022 
Cost 

2022 
Market Value 

2021 
Cost 

2021 
Market Value 

 Restricted Deposit notes/GIC's 2,358,861 2,022,306 4,436,385 4,357,896 
 Restricted Fixed Income 17,574,685 15,164,599 13,587,732 15,309,350 
Total Restricted 19,933,546 17,186,905 18,024,117 19,667,246 
 Unrestricted Deposit notes/GICs 1,245,459 1,026,073 1,656,960 1,656,960 
 Unrestricted Fixed Income 7,284,668 6,851,801 6,713,898 6,714,413 
Total Unrestricted 8,530,127 7,877,874 8,370,858 8,371,373 
Total 28,463,673 25,064,779 26,394,975 28,038,619 

Investments earn interest between 0.95% and 5.15% and have maturity dates between January 2023 and 
March 2031. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF STRATFORD 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended December 31, 2022 

5. INVESTMENT IN GOVERNMENT BUSINESS ENTERPRISES 

The Corporation holds a 100% interest in Festival Hydro Inc. and Festival Hydro Services Inc. as follows: 

2022 2021 

Festival Hydro (a) 49,639,035 45,896,146 
Festival Hydro Services Inc. (b) 1,646,385 1,588,723 

51,285,420 47,484,869 

(a) Festival Hydro Inc.: 2022 2021 

Financial position: 
    Current assets 13,904,829 14,565,257 
    Capital assets 58,854,033 57,113,909 
    Other assets 2,591,168 1,734,841 
Total assets 75,350,030 73,414,007 

    Regulatory balances 7,503,962 4,527,854 

    Current liabilities 15,289,157 13,115,959 
    Demand loan payable to the City of Stratford 15,600,000 15,600,000 
    Post-employment benefits 1,009,878 1,361,643 
    Other liabilities 15,815,090 15,836,536 
Total liabilities 47,714,125 45,914,138 

    Regulatory balances 1,100,832 1,731,577 

Equity 34,039,035 30,296,146 

Financial activities: 
    Revenues 68,881,680 72,338,384 
    Operating expenses (67,405,916) (69,125,670) 
    Finance costs (net) 172,396 (939,719) 
    Income tax (1,096,421) (917,289) 
    Net movement in regulatory balances 3,526,491 1,758,928 
    Other comprehensive income (loss) 303,258 80,606 
  Equity, beginning of year 30,296,146 27,991,792 
    Dividends paid or payable on shares (638,599) (890,886) 

Equity, end of year 34,039,035 30,296,146 

Investment in Festival Hydro Inc.: 
    Equity, end of year 34,039,035 30,296,146 
    Demand loan payable to the City of Stratford 15,600,000 15,600,000 

Net investment 49,639,035 45,896,146 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF STRATFORD 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended December 31, 2022 

5. INVESTMENT IN GOVERNMENT BUSINESS ENTERPRISES (Continued) 

(b) Festival Hydro Services Inc.: 2022 2021 

Financial Position: 
    Current assets 54,169 78,847 
    Capital assets 2,840,389 3,078,178 
    Other assets 70,719 29,990 
Total assets 2,965,277 3,187,015 

    Current liabilities 56,021 33,211 
    Demand loan payable to the City of Stratford 372,000 372,000 
    Other liabilities 1,262,911 1,565,081 
Total liabilities 1,690,932 1,970,292 

Equity 1,274,345 1,216,723 

Financial activities: 
    Revenues 1,371,559 1,336,141 
    Operating expenses (1,247,932) (1,137,808) 
    Finance costs (net) (43,965) (49,222) 
    Income tax (22,000) (39,000) 
  Equity, beginning of year 1,216,723 1,106,612 
    Dividends on common shares - -

Equity, end of year 1,274,385 1,216,723 

Investment in Festival Hydro Services Inc.: 
    Equity, end of year 1,274,385 1,216,723 
    Demand loan payable to the City of Stratford 372,000 372,000 
Net investment 1,646,385 1,588,723 

During the year, and within the normal course of operations, the Corporation was provided water and sewer 
billing and collection services by Festival Hydro Inc. Amounts paid to Festival Hydro Inc. by the 
corporation were $499,716 (2021 - $494,093). 

The Corporation also leases space from Festival Hydro Inc. for which it paid rent of $33,477 (2021 -
$27,638) during the year. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF STRATFORD 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended December 31, 2022 

6. PENSION AGREEMENT 

The Corporation makes contributions to the Ontario Municipal Employees Retirement System (OMERS), a 
multi-employer plan, on behalf of its employees. The plan is a defined benefit plan which specifies the 
amount of the retirement benefit to be received by the employees based on the length of service and rates of 
pay. The 2022 contribution rates are 9.0% for employee earnings below the year's maximum pensionable 
earnings and 14.6% thereafter for employees with a normal retirement age of 65. The 2021 contribution 
rates were 9.0% for employees earning below the year's maximum pensionable earnings and 14.6% 
thereafter for employees with a normal retirement age of 60. Employees and employers contribute jointly 
to the plan. 

OMERS is a multi-employer plan, therefore any pension plan surpluses or deficits are a joint responsibility 
of Ontario municipal organizations and their employees. As a result, the Corporation does not recognize 
any share of the OMERS pension surplus or deficit. Contributions made by the Corporation to OMERS for 
2022 were $3,544,764 (2021 - $3,554,235) and are matched by employee contributions in a similar 
manner. Employer contributions are recognized as an expenditure in the consolidated statement of financial 
activities in the year contributions are made. 

The OMERS pension plan has a deficit. If actuarial surpluses are not available to offset the existing deficit 
and subsidize future contributions, increases in contributions would be required in the future from all 
OMERS participants. The latest available report for the OMERS plan was December 31, 2022. At that 
time, the Plan reported a $6.7 billion actuarial deficit (2021 - $3.1 billion actuarial deficit). 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF STRATFORD 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended December 31, 2022 

7. DEFERRED REVENUE 

Balance at 
December 31 2021 Additions Withdrawals 

Balance at 
December 31 2022 

Obligatory Reserve Funds: 
    Development charges 14,531,121 6,362,993 5,508,785 15,385,329 
    Subdivider contributions 115,980 4,742 - 120,722 
    Recreational land (The  
      Planning Act) 

769,494 394,201 - 1,163,695 

    Federal gas tax 9,555,789 2,393,315 1,638,952 10,310,152 
    Provincial gas tax 424,736 489,842 418,641 495,937 
    Building permit inspections - 318,465 100,988 217,477 
Other current miscellaneous 728,600 2,588,475 1,354,450 1,962,625 
Other consolidated entities: 
    Other 600,519 38,900 5,484 633,935

26,726,239 12,590,933 9,027,300 30,289,872 

Balance at 
December 31 2020 Additions Withdrawals 

Balance at 
December 31 2021 

Obligatory Reserve Funds: 
    Development charges 12,595,538 2,538,275 602,692 14,531,121 
    Subdivider contributions 113,325 2,655 - 115,980 
    Recreational land (The  
      Planning Act) 

673,955 169,315 73,776 769,494 

    Federal gas tax 6,241,055 4,138,159 823,425 9,555,789 
    Provincial gas tax 612,878 491,933 680,075 424,736 
Other current miscellaneous 2,792,081 586,891 2,650,372 728,600 
Other consolidated entities: 
    Other 406,874 775,046 581,401 600,519 

23,435,706 8,702,274 5,411,741 26,726,239 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF STRATFORD 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended December 31, 2022 

8. SOLID WASTE LANDFILL CLOSURE AND POST-CLOSURE LIABILITY 

Solid waste landfill closure and post-closure liability accounts for anticipated closure and post-closure 
costs for the existing and closed landfill sites. This liability is the estimated cost to date, based on a 
volumetric basis, of the expenditures related to those activities required when the site or phase stops 
accepting waste. 

Post-closure activities include all activities related to monitoring the site once it can no longer accept waste, 
including acquisition of any additional land for buffer zones, treatment and monitoring of leachate, 
monitoring ground water and surface water, gas monitoring and recovery, and ongoing maintenance of 
various control systems, drainage system and final cover. 

The estimated liability for the care of landfill sites is the present value of future cash flows associated with 
closure and post-closure costs. The liability includes the portion of the landfill that was closed in 1995. 
This liability is partially funded by a reserve fund. 

Key assumptions in arriving at the liability are: 

2022 2021 
The landfill is expected to reach capacity in 2043 
Remaining capacity as at December 31 1.25 million tonnes 1.25 million tonnes 
Expected closing cost in 2022 dollars $ 3,736,000 $ 3,620,000 
Costs still to be recognized $ 3,158,662 $ 3,093,143 
Expected inflation rate % 2 % 2
Discount rate % 3.90 % 3.90 
Estimated time needed for post-closure care 50 Years 50 Years 

The Corporation has established a reserve fund to assist with the post closure costs. The reserve fund has a 
balance of $577,338 (2021 - $526,857). 

9. CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS 

At December 31, the Corporation had a number of contracts and commitments that remained fully or 
partially outstanding as noted, representing future year commitments: 

The Corporation has a contract with Ontario Clean Water Agency to operate the sewage system. The 
term of the agreement is 10 years for the period January 1, 2018 to December 31, 2027. The contract 
fees amounting to $1,039,567 (2021 - $996,072) are reported in the Consolidated Statement of 
Operations. The 2023 commitment is $1,126,045. 

The Corporation has entered into several agreements for the lease and supply of various equipment, 
vehicles and services with expected payments of approximately $2,233,800 for 2023. 

In February 2022, the Corporation entered into an agreement for purchase of service agreement with 
StormFisher Environmental Ltd. for the processing of source separated organics for $100.01 per tonne, 
and expected tonnage of 1,000 annually to March 2023 with a future year commitment of $100,000. 

The Corporation has outstanding contractual obligations of approximately $8,226,200 at December 31, 
2022 for various capital works that were not completed in 2022. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF STRATFORD 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended December 31, 2022 

10. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS PAYABLE 

Employee future benefits are liabilities of the Corporation to its employees and early retirees for benefits 
earned but not taken. Details are as follows: 

2022 2021 
Post-retirement benefits (a) 10,999,076 11,319,748 
Workplace Safety and Insurance Board Obligation (b) 4,782,242 3,914,342 

15,781,318 15,234,090 

The Corporation provides benefits to retirees until they reach 65 years of age, provides certain benefits to 
employees on long-term disability, allows certain employees to accumulate unused sick leave to be taken as 
a cash payment on termination. Above values are based on actuarial and management estimates as at 
December 31, 2022. 

(a) The actuarial analysis is only for the City of Stratford, not including WSIB. Significant assumptions 
used in the actuarial valuation are as follows: 

2022 2021 
Discount rate % 2.60 % 2.60 
Rate of compensation increase % 2.50 % 1.50 
Healthcare cost increase % 8.00 % 8.00 

The benefit obligation continuity is as follows: 

2022 2021 
Accrued benefit obligation end of prior year 10,696,300 10,605,700 
    Current period benefit cost 651,800 635,300 
    Retirement interest expenditure 281,100 281,500 
    Benefits paid (1,070,000) (826,200) 
Accrued Benefit Obligation as at December 31 10,559,200 10,696,300 
    Unamortized actuarial (gain) loss (228,800) -
Liability for post-retirement benefits 10,330,400 10,696,300 

Post-retirement benefits expense is as follows: 

2022 2021 
    Current period benefit cost 651,800 635,300 
    Retirement interest expenditure 281,100 281,500 
    Amortization of actuarial (gain) loss 166,100 179,400 
Total post-retirement benefits expense 1,099,000 1,096,200 

Reserves have been established to partially provide for this past service liability. The balance at the end of 
the year is $5,878,907 (2021 - $6,118,111). An amount of $609,387 (2021 - $nil) was paid out of reserves 
to employees who left the Corporation's employment during the current year. 

(b) The City of Stratford is a Workplace Safety and Insurance Board (WSIB) Schedule 2 employer. The 
Corporation has recorded an accrual for the estimate of future benefit costs and administrative loading as 
calculated by actuaries. During the year, $726,132 (2021 - $789,409) was paid by the Corporation to the 
WSIB in relation to those benefits. 
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11. LONG-TERM DEBT 

The balance of long-term debt reported on the consolidated statement of financial position consists of total 
long-term debt incurred by municipal enterprises. The amount at the end of the year is as follows: 

2022 2021 

OSIFA debenture bearing interest at 2.57% due June 2032 12,728,533 14,068,377 
OSIFA debenture bearing interest at 2.78% due September 2024 134,000 201,000 
OSIFA debenture bearing interest at 2.74% due November 2028 1,735,208 2,024,409 
OMEIFA debenture bearing interest at 4.96% due November 2034 8,071,858 8,744,512 
OMEIFA debenture bearing interest at 2.70% due November 2034 729,797 780,666 
OMEIFA debenture bearing interest at 4.28% due December 2024 733,333 1,100,000 
OMEIFA debenture bearing interest at 3.21% due December 2026 5,611,369 7,014,212 
OMEIFA debenture bearing interest at 3.42% due December 2023 4,482,867 4,890,400 
Royal Bank loan payable, interest at 2.63% per annum, due February 2026 - 141,254 
Royal Bank loan payable, interest at 2.42% per annum, due June 2024 493,893 684,669 
Royal Bank loan payable, interest at 2.84% per annum, due April 2027 3,480,287 3,633,760 
Royal Bank loan payable, interest at 2.88% per annum, due April 2028 3,446,278 3,597,657 
Royal Bank loan payable, interest at 2.49% per annum, due April 2025 512,591 723,151 
Royal Bank loan payable, interest at 2.51% per annum, due April 2023 1,012,412 1,081,559 
Royal Bank loan payable, interest at 2.80% per annum, due April 2026 1,021,765 1,090,233 
Royal Bank loan payable, interest at 5.65% per annum, due October 2027 3,595,127 -
Royal Bank loan payable, interest at 5.66% per annum, due October 2027 1,716,534 -

49,505,852 49,775,859 

Principal repayments are summarized as follows: 

2023 5,674,739 
2024 5,708,339 
2025 5,061,211 
2026 4,913,662 
2027 3,540,911 
Thereafter 24,606,990 

49,505,852 

Long-term liabilities and commitments to be financed from reserves beyond the term of Council are 
covered by by-law. The principal and interest payments required to service existing and pending issues and 
commitments are within the debt repayment limit prescribed by the Ministry of Municipal Affairs. 

Total interest on long-term debt was $2,379,437 (2021 - $1,920,798). 
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12. PUBLIC LIABILITY INSURANCE 

In recent years, there have been substantial increases in premiums charged by the insurance industry for 
public liability insurance. As a result, the Corporation has undertaken some portion of the risk, which 
would historically have been covered by outside insurers. 

The Corporation is self-insured for public liability claims up to $50,000 for any individual claim and 
$50,000 for any number of claims arising out of a single occurrence. Outside coverage is in place for 
claims in excess of these limits. 

As at December 31, 2022, there are legal claims commenced against the Corporation that remain 
outstanding. No provision has been made for any claims that are expected to be covered by insurance or 
where the consequences are undeterminable. Where the claims are not expected to be covered by insurance 
and where management has assessed the likelihood of exposure as being more likely that not and is able to 
reasonably assess the exposure, an amount is provided for in these consolidated financial statements. 

13. ACCUMULATED SURPLUS 

The accumulated surplus balance is comprised of balances in reserves and reserve funds, operating surplus, 
capital surplus, unfunded liabilities to be recovered in the future, investment in government business 
enterprises and investment in tangible capital assets. 

2022 2021 

Reserves set aside for specific purposes by Council: 18,154,667 17,292,291 

Reserve Funds set aside for specific purpose by Council: 43,555,896 45,254,869 

Amounts to be recovered: 
    Investment in Government Business Enterprise (15,972,000) (15,972,000) 
    Solid waste landfill closure and post closure liability (3,736,000) (3,620,000) 
    Employee benefits payable (15,781,318) (15,234,090) 
    Long-term debt (49,505,852) (49,775,859) 
    Interest accrual on debt (124,978) (112,992) 
Total amounts to be recovered (85,120,148) (84,714,941) 

Cumulative operating deficit (8,126,796) (9,780,640) 
Investment in Government Business Enterprise 51,285,420 47,484,869 
Land held for resale 347,651 347,651 
Work in progress 25,041,542 15,803,877 
Investment in tangible capital assets 317,625,572 302,059,308 
Total accumulated surplus 362,763,804 333,747,284 

The cumulative operating deficit reflects the Corporation's $1,169,805 cash-basis operating surplus as well 
as PSAB and consolidated adjustments. 
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14. CONTINGENCIES 

As of December 31, 2022, certain legal actions and other contingent liabilities are pending against the 
Corporation. Reference can be made to note 12 for details of the public liability insurance maintained by 
the Corporation. Not all contingencies can be estimated at year-end since the outcome of these matters is 
indeterminate at this time. 

15. FINANCIAL INFORMATION FOR THE LIBRARY BOARD 

The Ministry of Culture provides operating grants and pay equity grants to the Library. A condition of this 
grant is that the Library Board supply its financial information to the Ministry. This information may be 
included in the consolidated financial statements provided that the financial information of the library is 
identified either by a separate schedule or a note. 

2022 2021 
Revenue 
    Other grant revenue 6,146 8,074 
    Public library operating grant 57,509 57,275 
    Investment and interest income 35 -
    Fees and charges 374,398 458,958 
    Donations 63,734 5,560 
    Total revenue 501,822 529,867 

Expenses 
    Wages 2,238,959 2,258,504 
    Materials 109,450 104,395 
    Services 526,298 381,795 
    Other 37,315 94,296 
    Total Expenses 2,912,022 2,838,990 

Deficiency of revenue over expenses 2,410,200 2,309,123 

Deficiency was funded as follows: 
    Transfer from (to) reserves and reserve funds (230,724) (227,853) 
    Contribution from the Corporation 2,640,924 2,536,976 

2,410,200 2,309,123 
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16. GOVERNMENT PARTNERSHIP - HURON PERTH PUBLIC HEALTH 

The Corporation of the City of Stratford is a partner in Huron Perth Public Health. The Corporation 
provides 23.26% (2021 - 23.40%) of the municipal funding for the Cost Shared Mandatory related 
programs. The Corporation's share of results of Huron Perth Public Health's financial results from 
operations for the year and its financial position at year-end have been consolidated within these financial 
statements. At December 31, 2022 Huron Perth Public Health's financial results and financial performance 
are as follows: 

2022 2021 
Financial assets 2,888,072 2,711,957 
Liabilities (4,024,830) (3,731,424) 
Non-financial assets 5,689,986 5,572,695 
Accumulated surplus 4,553,228 4,553,228 

Revenues 22,273,577 23,077,870 
Expenses (22,273,577) (24,424,804) 
Annual surplus/(deficit) before restructuring adjustments - (1,346,934) 

The Corporation's share of Huron Perth Public Health's assets, liabilities and accumulated surplus at 
December 31, 2022 are as follows: 

Financial assets 671,766 634,598 
Liabilities (936,175) (873,153) 
Non-financial assets 1,323,491 1,304,011 
Accumulated surplus 1,059,082 1,065,456 
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17. GOVERNMENT PARTNERSHIP - SPRUCE LODGE 

The Corporation of the City of Stratford is a partner in Spruce Lodge Home for the Aged and its related 
entities. The Corporation provides 41.11% (2021 - 41.13%) of the municipal funding for the Costs Shared 
Mandatory related programs. The Corporation's share of results of Spruce Lodge Home for the Aged and its 
related entities' financial results from operations for the year and its financial position at year-end have 
been consolidated within these financial statements. At December 31, 2022, Spruce Lodge Home for the 
Aged and its related entities' financial results and financial performance are as follows: 

2022 2021 
Financial assets 5,043,304 6,067,494 
Liabilities (3,384,404) (3,052,823) 
Non-financial assets 7,373,659 7,118,708 
Accumulated surplus 9,032,559 10,133,379 

Revenues 16,366,028 14,042,219 
Expenses (16,602,240) (14,135,155) 
Annual deficit (236,212) (92,936) 

The Corporation's share of Spruce Lodge Home for the Aged and its related entities' assets, liabilities and 
accumulated surplus at December 31, 2022 are as follows: 

Financial assets 2,073,302 2,495,560 
Liabilities (1,391,328) (1,255,626) 
Non-financial assets 3,031,311 2,927,925 
Accumulated surplus 3,713,285 4,167,859 

18. CHANGE IN PROPORTIONATE CONSOLIDATION 

The change in proportionate consolidation of joint local boards is the result of new funding agreements 
effective January 1, 2022. The resulting changes in funding percentages and their effects are as follows: 

2022 2021 Change 
Funding percentage 
    Huron Perth Public Health % 23.26 % 23.40 % -0.14 
    Spruce Lodge % 41.11 % 41.13 % -0.02 

January 1, 2022 
Effect of Change in Funding Percentages 
Tangible capital assets 
    Cost (14,202) 
    Accumulated amortization 5,269 
    Net book value (8,933) 

Net financial assets 1,260 
Other non-financial assets (508) 
Change in Net Municipal Position (8,181) 
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19. SEGMENTED INFORMATION 

The Corporation of the City of Stratford is a diversified municipal government institution that provides a 
wide range of services to its citizens. For reporting purposes, the Corporation's operations and activities are 
organized in segments. The services and activities of each segment are as follows: 

General government 
This item is related to the revenues and expenses of the operations of the Corporation itself and cannot be 
directly attributed to a specific segment. 

Protection services 
Protection is comprised of police services, fire department and building department. The police services 
department is to ensure the safety and protection of the citizens and their property, preserve peace and good 
order, detect offenders and enforce the law. The fire department provides fire suppression service, fire 
prevention programs, training and education related to prevention and detection of fires. The building 
department enforces the building and construction codes and municipal by-laws. 

Transportation services 
Transportation services include public works services related to planning, development and maintenance of 
the roadway systems, street lighting, transit and parallel transit, parking administration and control and the 
operations of the Stratford Municipal Airport. 

Environmental services 
Environmental services include providing sanitary and storm sewer, water, waste collection and disposal 
and recycling services. 

Health services 
Health services are comprised of public health services which works to improve the overall health of the 
population and overcome health inequalities by providing services to individuals and communities. This 
segment also includes ambulance services and cemetery operations. 

Social and family services 
Social Services provide services that are meant to help the less fortunate in society through Ontario Works 
assistance, child care subsidy program and best start and special needs programs. This segment also 
includes the operations of a municipal day care. 

Social housing 
Housing services are meant to help the less fortunate through social housing, affordable housing and public 
housing programs. 

Recreation and cultural services 
Recreation and cultural services are meant to improve the health and development of the citizens. Programs 
such as swimming, skating, day camps, festivals and library services are provided at locations such as 
parks, libraries, art gallery, recreation complexes, arenas, sports field and other municipal buildings. This 
segment also includes grants to numerous community organizations providing recreation and cultural 
activities. 

Planning and development 
Planning and development services manages urban development for business interests, environmental 
concerns, heritage matters, local neighbourhoods and the city centre. This segment also includes economic 
development and tourism. 

For each reported segment, revenues and expenses represent the amounts that are directly attributable to the 
segment and amounts that are allocated on a reasonable basis. Therefore, certain allocation methodologies 
are used in preparation of segmented financial information. The revenue fund reports on municipal services 
that are funding primarily by property taxation revenues. Taxation and payments-in-lieu of taxes are 
apportioned based on the segment's net surplus. The segmented information follows the same accounting 
policies as disclosed in Note 1. 
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19. SEGMENTED INFORMATION (Continued) 

For the year ended 
December 31 

General 
Government 

Protection 
Services 

Transportation 
Services 

Environmental 
Services 

Health 
Services 

Social and 
Family 

Services 

Social 
Housing 

Recreation 
and Cultural 

Services 

Planning & 
Development 

Total 2022

Revenue 
Taxation 5,626,988 12,165,819 7,412,143 6,583,521 4,703,218 16,519,200 6,814,900 6,114,410 3,121,477 69,061,676 
Grants 11,193,855 667,590 519,890 418,507 4,446,003 25,780,705 1,373,506 234,852 537,185 45,172,093 
Other municipalities - 1,800,509 - - - 1,373,802 7,593,054 42,686 - 10,810,051 
Fees and user charges 614,665 249,417 1,541,127 16,637,858 197,634 3,849,641 2,696,670 830,030 275,964 26,893,006 
Licences and permits 359,646 345,215 676,172 - 363,509 - 3,149,360 1,678,372 604,629 7,176,903 
Rents, fines, penalties 401,688 - - 98,768 - - - 4,525 - 504,981 
Other 8,610,642 27,821 19,630 12,193 2,376,955 13,368 - 130,017 147,878 11,338,504 

26,807,484 15,256,371 10,168,962 23,750,847 12,087,319 47,536,716 21,627,490 9,034,892 4,687,133 170,957,214 

Expenses 
Salaries and benefits 5,555,883 21,795,581 6,399,879 3,168,315 516,647 6,108,842 324,288 6,144,468 1,188,339 51,202,242 
Materials 394,995 1,001,057 2,930,976 1,463,819 108,386 1,326,764 3,038,195 1,335,948 118,917 11,719,057 
Contracted Services 4,479,613 1,314,259 2,118,255 5,035,977 37,632 2,430,456 1,227,631 1,910,895 744,672 19,299,390 
External Transfers - - - - 3,681,263 15,805,387 2,143,644 1,234,038 4,038,051 26,902,383 
Amortization 688,415 714,166 3,639,786 2,576,994 222,779 306,445 439,129 1,447,647 - 10,035,361 
Other 445,432 177,593 144,213 1,285,057 5,099,140 7,971,637 6,832,795 493,070 325,143 22,774,080 

11,564,338 25,002,656 15,233,109 13,530,162 9,665,847 33,949,531 14,005,682 12,566,066 6,415,122 141,932,513 

Net Revenue 
(expenditure) 

15,243,146 (9,746,285) (5,064,147) 10,220,685 2,421,472 13,587,185 7,621,808 (3,531,174) (1,727,989) 29,024,701 
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19. SEGMENTED INFORMATION (Continued) 

For the year ended 
December 31 

General 
Government 

Protection 
Services 

Transportation 
Services 

Environmental 
Services 

Health 
Services 

Social and 
Family 

Services 

Social 
Housing 

Recreation and 
Cultural 
Services 

Planning & 
Development 

Total 2021 

Revenue 
Taxation 4,428,751 11,549,165 7,200,693 6,290,218 5,032,781 14,177,673 6,876,808 5,672,904 3,039,497 64,268,490 
Grants 7,336,606 508,731 1,966,559 370,498 4,714,410 21,718,425 1,490,229 178,039 234,928 38,518,425 
Other municipalities 104,211 1,620,078 - - 645,507 1,654,708 7,693,639 41,443 - 11,759,586 
Fees and user 
charges 

209,060 327,122 1,164,458 15,667,131 72,760 3,383,965 2,505,457 662,327 392,430 24,384,710 

Licences and permits 252,763 253,861 459,888 - 481,470 - 858,697 1,181,865 1,018,725 4,507,269 
Rents, fines, 
penalties 

370,561 - - 116,731 - - - 2,053 - 489,345 

Other 5,401,955 3,758 19,814 13,414 1,024,707 10,413 - 100,545 108,762 6,683,368
18,103,907 14,262,715 10,811,412 22,457,992 11,971,635 40,945,184 19,424,830 7,839,176 4,794,342 150,611,193 

Expenses 
Salaries and benefits 4,332,738 20,488,212 6,626,077 3,338,625 494,799 5,181,784 1,057,435 5,502,468 1,057,478 48,079,616 
Materials 421,887 789,631 2,316,551 1,373,289 89,520 927,547 2,734,663 1,195,215 115,420 9,963,723 
Contracted Services 2,505,744 1,010,757 2,010,195 4,637,960 43,625 1,614,521 1,390,814 1,591,946 608,387 15,413,949 
External Transfers 413,029 - - - 3,600,988 14,722,442 7,072,746 970,830 3,913,889 30,693,924 
Amortization 685,996 723,494 3,341,886 2,479,431 80,015 11,874 15,282 1,545,113 10,258 8,893,349 
Other 285,300 130,984 134,577 775,503 5,776,116 5,952,110 1,509,320 562,217 385,339 15,511,466 

8,644,694 23,143,078 14,429,286 12,604,808 10,085,063 28,410,278 13,780,260 11,367,789 6,090,771 128,556,027 

Net Revenue 
(expenditures) 

9,459,213 (8,880,363) (3,617,874) 9,853,184 1,886,572 12,534,906 5,644,570 (3,528,613) (1,296,429) 22,055,166 
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20. TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS 

General Land 
Land 

Improvements 

Building and 
Building 

Equipment 
Computer 

Equipment 
Furniture and 

Fixtures Vehicles 
Linear 
Assets 

Machinery 
and 

Equipment  Other 
Infrastructure 

Roads  Bridges 
 W/WW 

Facilities 

 Underground 
and Other 
Networks Total 

 Work in 
Progress  Grand Total 

Cost 

Balance, Dec 31, 2021 
17,630,468 10,299,287 84,992,541 3,029,223 5,969,851 14,343,539 4,122,727 18,476,459 140,039 129,541,190 10,169,966 93,898,098 105,987,403 498,600,791 15,803,877 514,404,668 

Additions 111,181 321,128 1,283,412 175,166 372,869 1,492,607 - 1,785,858 - 13,166,495 94,665 2,165,774 4,999,568 25,968,723 9,450,314 35,419,037 
Adjustments (644) (15) (10,809) - (480) - - (2,237) - (16) - - - (14,201) - (14,201) 
Disposals - 184,045 161,758 98,234 395,111 1,099,251 - 206,017 - 1,221,648 - - - 3,366,064 212,649 3,578,713 

Balance, Dec 31, 2022 
17,741,005 10,436,355 86,103,386 3,106,155 5,947,129 14,736,895 4,122,727 20,054,063 140,039 143,929,317 10,264,631 96,063,872 110,986,971 521,189,249 25,041,542 546,230,791 

Accumulated Amortization 

Balance, Dec 31, 2021 
- 2,878,308 36,838,147 2,599,508 4,586,760 7,008,792 3,590,649 12,676,124 17,718 58,596,683 3,637,609 37,865,952 26,245,233 196,541,483 - 196,541,483 

Amortization - 338,973 2,185,801 179,205 198,901 1,195,265 77,688 1,135,320 - 2,302,147 146,492 1,327,648 947,921 10,035,361 - 10,035,361 
Adjustments - (12) (3,534) - (194) - - (1,517) - (11) - - - (5,268) - (5,268) 
Disposals - 172,041 124,664 96,522 395,111 1,099,251 - 201,888 - 918,422 - - - 3,007,899 - 3,007,899 

Balance, Dec 31, 2022 
- 3,217,269 38,895,750 2,778,713 4,390,356 7,104,806 3,668,337 13,608,039 17,718 59,980,397 3,784,101 39,193,600 27,193,154 203,563,677 - 203,563,677 

Net Book Value Dec 31, 

2022 
17,741,005 7,219,086 47,207,636 327,442 1,556,773 7,632,089 454,390 6,446,024 122,321 83,948,920 6,480,530 56,870,272 83,793,817 317,625,572 25,041,542 342,667,114 

Cost 

Balance, Dec 31, 2020 
17,357,037 10,260,949 83,030,116 2,960,446 5,967,282 10,235,767 4,876,311 17,894,092 140,039 127,338,556 9,913,608 93,511,046 92,459,700 475,944,949 13,772,470 489,717,419 

Additions 274,259 38,692 2,062,204 68,777 399,295 4,380,293 81,354 942,411 - 2,202,979 272,251 387,052 13,527,703 24,637,270 2,743,865 27,381,135 
Adjustments (828) (354) (75,435) - (725) - - (18,050) - (345) - - - (95,737) - (95,737) 
Disposals - 24,344 - 396,001 272,521 834,938 341,994 - - 15,893 - - 1,885,691 712,458 2,598,149 

Balance, Dec 31, 2021 
17,630,468 10,299,287 84,992,541 3,029,223 5,969,851 14,343,539 4,122,727 18,476,459 140,039 129,541,190 10,169,966 93,898,098 105,987,403 498,600,791 15,803,877 514,404,668 

Accumulated Amortization 

Balance, Dec 31, 2020 
- 2,556,205 34,589,419 2,403,855 4,649,009 6,228,187 4,045,084 11,909,095 17,718 56,402,294 3,504,267 36,571,208 25,388,092 188,264,433 - 188,264,433 

Amortization - 322,381 2,294,493 195,653 322,887 1,053,126 77,688 1,120,146 - 2,194,627 146,375 1,294,744 857,141 9,879,261 - 9,879,261 
Adjustments - (278) (39,738) - (426) - - (13,860) - (238) - - - (54,540) - (54,540) 
Disposals - - 6,027 - 384,710 272,521 532,123 339,257 - - 13,033 - - 1,547,671 - 1,547,671 

Balance, Dec 31, 2021 
- 2,878,308 36,838,147 2,599,508 4,586,760 7,008,792 3,590,649 12,676,124 17,718 58,596,683 3,637,609 37,865,952 26,245,233 196,541,483 - 196,541,483 

Net Book Value Dec 31, 

2021 
17,630,468 7,420,979 48,154,394 429,715 1,383,091 7,334,747 532,078 5,800,335 122,321 70,944,507 6,532,357 56,032,146 79,742,170 302,059,308 15,803,877 317,863,185 
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21. BUDGET 

The Financial Plan (budget) By-law adopted by Council on February 14, 2022 was not prepared on a basis 
consistent with that used to report actual results (Public Sector Accounting Standards). The budget was 
prepared on a modified accrual basis while Canadian Public Sector Accounting Standards now require 
reporting on a full accrual basis. The budget figures anticipated use of surpluses accumulated in previous 
years to reduce current year expenditures in excess of current year revenues to $nil. In addition, the budget 
reflects expensing all tangible capital expenditures rather than including just amortization expense. As a 
result, the budget figures presented in the statement of operations represent the Financial Plan adopted by 
Council February 14, 2022 including a proportionate consolidated budgets of local boards with adjustments 
as follows: 

2022 

Financial Plan (budget) Bylaw deficit for the year -
Add: 
    Budgeted principal repayment of debt 8,593,071 
    Budgeted transfer to accumulated surplus 10,627,900 
    Capital Expenditures 40,235,075 
Less: 
    Budgeted transfers from accumulated surplus (28,773,519) 
    Unfinanced Capital (4,686,080) 
    Amortization (10,035,361) 
Budget surplus (deficit) per statement of operations 15,961,086 
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22. FINANCIAL INFORMATION FOR STRATFORD ECONOMIC ENTERPRISE DEVELOPMENT 
CORPORATION (SEED CO.) 

2022 2021 
Revenue 
    Ontario grants 271,988 207,428 
    Federal grants 182,808 19,300 
    Other revenue 67,493 11,370 
    Total revenue 522,289 238,098 

Expenses 
    Wages 594,821 491,362 
    Materials 29,615 22,459 
    Services 357,600 203,919 
    Special project - 1,231 
    Other 120,233 157,461 
    Total expenses 1,102,269 876,432 

Deficiency of revenue over expenses 579,980 638,334 

Deficiency was funded as follows: 
    Contribution from the Corporation 622,202 599,092 
    Contribution (to) from reserve (42,222) 39,242 

579,980 638,334 

23. COVID-19 PANDEMIC 

During and subsequent to year end, the Corporation has been impacted by the effects of the world-wide 
coronavirus pandemic. The Corporation is closely monitoring its operations and is actively working to 
minimize the current and future impact of this unprecedented situation.  Measures in place to combat the 
health threat of the virus have caused material disruption to Corporation services.  The duration and impact 
of the outbreak is unknown at this time, as are the efficacy of the government and central bank 
interventions.  Library, Recreation centres and other Corporation facilities have been closed to the public 
on and off throughout the pandemic. Council has approved COVID-19 Tax Relief application programs for 
2022 tax instalments to provide relief to taxpayers. At the time of financial statement preparation, it is not 
possible to reliably estimate the length and severity of the measures nor their impact on the future financial 
results of the Municipality. 

24. COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS 

The comparative amounts presented in the consolidated financial statements have been reclassified to 
conform to the current year's presentation. 
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CITY OF STRATFORD 
   Corporate Services Department 

City Hall, P.O. Box 818  
 Stratford, ON N5A 6W1 

 
(519) 271 -0250 

Fax: (519) 273 -5041 
www.stratford.ca 

 
Management Report 
 
The accompanying consolidated financial statements of The Corporation of the City of 
Stratford are the responsibility of the City’s management and have been prepared in 
accordance with Canadian Public Sector Accounting standards. The preparation of the 
financial statements necessarily involves the use of estimates based on management’s 
judgment, particularly when transactions affecting the current accounting period cannot 
be finalized with certainty until future periods. 
 
The Corporation maintains a system of internal controls designed to provide reasonable 
assurance that the financial information is relevant, reliable, and accurate, that 
transactions are properly authorized and the Corporation’s assets are properly accounted 
for and adequately safeguarded. 
 
The financial statements have been examined by Millard, Rouse and Rosebrugh, LLP, 
Chartered Professional Accountants, the external auditors for the Corporation. The 
responsibility of the external auditor is to express an opinion on whether the financial 
statements are fairly presented, in all material respects, in accordance with Canadian 
Public Sector Accounting standards. 
 
Stratford City Council, through the Audit Committee, is responsible for ensuring that 
management fulfills its responsibility for financial reporting and internal control. The Audit 
Committee meets periodically with management, as well as with the external auditors to 
satisfy itself that each party is properly discharging its responsibilities with respect to 
internal controls and financial reporting. 
 
The Audit Committee meets with management and the external auditors to review the 
consolidated financial statements and discuss any significant financial reporting or internal 
control matters prior to their approval of the consolidated financial statements. 

      
Karmen Krueger, CPA, CA     Michael Koktan, CPA, CA 
Director of Corporate Services/Treasurer   Manager of Financial Services 
 
Stratford, Ontario, Canada 
 
December 2, 2024 



 INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 

To the Members of Council, Inhabitants and Ratepayers of 
The Corporation of the City of Stratford 

Opinion 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of The Corporation of the City of Stratford (the 
'Corporation'), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2022, and the 
consolidated statements of operations, changes in net financial assets and cash flows for the year then ended, and 
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
consolidated financial position of the Corporation as at December 31, 2022, and the consolidated results of its 
operations, its consolidated changes and net assets and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards. 

Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of Financial Statements 
section of our report. We are independent of the Corporation in accordance with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as management 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Corporation's 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Corporation or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Corporation's financial reporting process. 

Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors' report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial 
statements. As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.  
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We also: 
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due 

to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the Corporation's internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that 
may cast significant doubt on the Corporation's ability to continue as a going concern.  If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors' report to the related disclosures 
in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions 
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors' report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the Corporation to cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the group Entity to express an opinion on the financial statements. We are responsible for 
the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit 
opinion. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit. 

November 25, 2024 CHARTERED PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNTANTS 
Brantford, Ontario Licensed Public Accountants 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF STRATFORD 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

As at December 31 2022 2021 

Financial Assets 
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 2) 39,886,053 43,201,943 
Taxes receivable 2,490,604 2,224,491 
Trade and other receivable 18,131,205 10,857,984 
Loans receivable (Note 3) 904,359 1,101,008 
Investments (Note 4) 28,463,673 26,394,975 
Investment in government business enterprises (Note 5) 51,285,420 47,484,869 
Land held for resale 347,651 347,651 

141,508,965 131,612,921 

Financial Liabilities 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 23,308,601 21,452,173 
Deferred revenue (Note 7) 30,289,872 26,726,239 
Solid waste landfill closure and post closure liability (Note 8) 3,736,000 3,620,000 
Employee benefits payable (Note 10) 15,781,318 15,234,090 
Long-term debt (Note 11) 49,505,852 49,775,859 

122,621,643 116,808,361 

Net Financial Assets 18,887,322 14,804,560 

Non-Financial Assets 
Tangible capital assets (Note 20) 342,667,114 317,863,185 
Inventory 314,853 317,629 
Prepaid expenses 832,382 715,791 
Other non-financial assets (Spruce Lodge) 62,133 46,119 

343,876,482 318,942,724 

Total Net Assets 362,763,804 333,747,284 

Accumulated Surplus (Note 13) 362,763,804 333,747,284 

Contractual Obligations (Note 9) 
Contingencies (Note 14) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF STRATFORD 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS AND ACCUMULATED SURPLUS 

For the year ended December 31 2022 2022 2021 
Budget 

(Note 21) 

Revenue 
Net municipal taxation 68,826,984 68,549,192 63,776,067 
Payments-in-lieu of taxation - 512,484 492,423 
Conditional grants 30,849,323 45,172,093 38,518,425 
Revenue from other municipalities 7,473,377 10,810,051 11,759,586 
User fees and service charges 24,154,500 26,893,006 24,384,711 
Licenses, permits and rents 4,765,611 7,176,903 4,507,268 
Fines and penalties 555,000 504,981 489,345 
Other revenue 2,465,774 5,123,528 4,268,903 
Income from government business enterprises - 6,214,976 2,414,465 

139,090,569 170,957,214 150,611,193 

Expenses 
General government 10,017,714 11,564,338 8,644,694 
Protection services 23,998,973 25,002,656 23,143,078 
Transportation services 12,186,301 15,233,109 14,429,286 
Environmental services 11,629,425 13,530,162 12,604,808 
Health services 8,995,016 9,665,847 10,085,063 
Social and family services 29,132,830 33,949,531 28,410,278 
Social housing 8,583,500 14,005,682 13,780,260 
Recreation and cultural services 12,143,689 12,566,066 11,367,789 
Planning and development 6,442,035 6,415,122 6,090,771 

123,129,483 141,932,513 128,556,027 

Annual Surplus 15,961,086 29,024,701 22,055,166 

Increase (decrease) in Net Municipal Position 15,961,086 29,024,701 22,055,166 

Change in proportionate consolidation (Note 18) - (8,181) (229,968) 

Opening Accumulated Surplus 333,747,284 333,747,284 311,922,086 

Ending Accumulated Surplus (Note 13) 349,708,370 362,763,804 333,747,284 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF STRATFORD 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET FINANCIAL ASSETS 

For the year ended December 31 2022 
Budget 

(Note 21) 

2022 2021 

Annual Surplus 15,961,086 29,024,701 22,055,166 

Acquisition of tangible capital assets (40,235,075) (25,968,722) (23,924,812) 
Acquisition of tangible capital assets - WIP - (9,450,314) (2,743,865) 
Amortization of tangible capital assets 10,035,361 10,035,361 9,879,261 
(Gain)/loss on disposal of tangible capital assets - 518,760 191,319 
Proceeds from sale of tangible capital assets - 44,624 37,618 

(14,238,628) 4,204,410 5,494,687 
Change in inventory - 2,776 14,238 
Change in other non-financial assets - (16,014) 102,119 
Change in prepaid expenses - (116,591) 818,691 
Change in Net Financial Assets (Debt) (14,238,628) 4,074,581 6,429,735 

Net Financial Assets (Debt), Beginning of the Year 14,804,560 14,804,560 8,454,514 
Change in proportional consolidation (Note 18) 8,181 (79,689) 

Net Financial Assets (Debt), End of the Year 565,932 18,887,322 14,804,560 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF STRATFORD 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

For the year ended December 31 2022 2021 

Cash Provided By (Used In) 

Operating Activities 
   Annual Surplus 29,024,701 22,055,166 

Items not involving cash: 
   Amortization of tangible capital assets 10,035,361 9,879,261 
   Loss/(Gain) on disposal of tangible capital assets 518,760 191,319 
   Government business enterprise net earnings (4,439,150) (3,305,351) 

Changes in non-cash operating working capital: 
     Trade and other receivables (7,273,221) (4,005,562) 
     Taxes receivable (266,113) 160,563 
     Inventory 2,776 14,238 
     Prepaid expenses (116,591) 818,691 
     Other non-financial assets (16,014) 102,119 
     Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 1,856,428 5,325,238 
     Deferred revenue 3,563,633 3,290,533 
     Employee benefits payable 547,228 1,222,097 
     Solid waste landfill closure and post closure liability 116,000 283,093 

33,553,798 36,031,405 

Financing Activities 
Long-term debt advanced 5,349,833 -
Repayment of long-term debt (5,619,840) (6,253,872) 

(270,007) (6,253,872) 

Investing Activities 
Dividends from Government business enterprises 638,599 890,886 
Net increase in investments (2,068,698) (1,449,884) 
Net (increase)/decrease in loans receivable 196,649 191,043 

(1,233,450) (367,955) 

Capital Transactions 
Purchase of tangible capital assets (35,419,036) (26,668,677) 
Proceeds from the sale of tangible capital assets 44,624 37,618 

(35,374,412) (26,631,059) 

Change in Cash and Cash Equivalents (3,324,071) 2,778,519 

Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Year 43,201,943 40,503,113 
Change in proportionate consolidation (Note 18) 8,181 (79,689) 

Cash and Cash Equivalents,  End of Year 39,886,053 43,201,943 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF STRATFORD 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended December 31, 2022 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The consolidated financial statements of the Corporation of the City of Stratford (the “Corporation”) are 
prepared by management in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards for local 
governments as recommended by the Public Sector Accounting Board ("PSAB") of Chartered Professional 
Accountants Canada.  Significant aspects of accounting policies are as follows: 

(a) Reporting entities 
These consolidated financial statements reflect the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenditures of the 
Corporation and include the activities of all committees of Council and the following local boards, 
municipal enterprises and utilities which are accountable to the Corporation for the administration of their 
financial affairs and resources and are owned or controlled by the Corporation. 

(i) Consolidated entities: 

• Stratford Public Library 
• Police Services Board 
• Board of Parks 
• Downtown Stratford BIA 
• Perth & Stratford Housing Corporation 
• SEED Co. 

(ii) Proportionally consolidated entities: 
The following entities are proportionally consolidated with the financial statements of the 
Corporation based on an approved funding agreement effective January 1, 2022. 

2022 2021 
Perth District Health Unit 23.26% 23.40% 
Spruce Lodge Home for the Aged 41.11% 41.13% 
Spruce Lodge Home Assistance Corporation 41.11% 41.13% 
Spruce Lodge Foundation 41.11% 41.13% 

The method of consolidation is based on notional weighted assessment as stated in the new shared 
services costing agreement. 

(iii) Equity accounting: 
Government business enterprises are accounted for by the modified equity method. Under the 
modified equity method, the accounting principles of government business enterprises are not 
adjusted to conform to the Corporation's accounting principles and inter-organizational transactions 
and balances are not eliminated. However, inter-organizational gains and losses are eliminated on 
assets remaining with the government reporting entities at the reporting date. 

The government business enterprises include: 
• Festival Hydro Inc. 
• Festival Hydro Services Inc. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF STRATFORD 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended December 31, 2022 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

(b) Basis of accounting: 
Revenues and expenditures are reported on the accrual basis of accounting. The accrual basis of accounting 
recognizes revenues as they are earned and measurable. Expenditures are recognized as they are incurred 
and measurable as a result of the receipt of goods or services and the creation of a legal obligation to pay. 

(c) Cash and cash equivalents: 
Cash and cash equivalents are comprised of cash on hand, cash held in financial institutions and temporary 
investments with maturities of 60 days or less. 

(d) Bank indebtedness: 
Bank indebtedness is a fluctuating short term line of credit held in a financial institution. 

(e) Tangible capital assets: 
Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost, which includes all amounts that are directly attributable to 
acquisition, construction, development or betterment of the asset, and include interest charges when these 
charges are directly attributable to the capital project. Donated or contributed assets are capitalized and 
recorded at their estimated fair value upon acquisition. Leased capital assets are valued at the present value 
of the future minimum lease payments. Certain tangible capital assets for which historical cost information 
is not available have been recorded at current replacement cost deflated by a relevant inflation factor. 

Works of art and other historical treasures are accounted for in the same method as the other tangible 
capital assets, with the exception that they are not amortized. 

Work in progress identified in this and subsequent notes relates to assets under construction. The costs, less 
residual value, of the tangible capital assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated 
useful lives as follows: 

Land improvements 20 to 30 years 
Buildings and building equipment 15 to 50 years 
Computer equipment 5 years 
Furniture and fixtures 15 to 30 years 
Vehicles 2 to 25 years 
Machinery and equipment 5 to 25 years 
Linear assets 20 to 40 years 
Other capital assets 50 years 
Roads 15 to 60 years 
Bridges 60 to 75 years 
Water and wastewater facilities 35 to 100 years 
Underground and other networks 100 years 

(f) Land held for resale: 
The land held for resale is recorded at the lower of cost and net realizable value. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF STRATFORD 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended December 31, 2022 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

(g) Tax revenues: 
In 2022, the Corporation billed over $68.4 million in property tax revenue for municipal purposes. A 
further $11.5 million in provincial education taxes were collected on behalf of the Province of Ontario for 
education purposes and remitted to the Province during the year, and do not form part of these financial 
statements. The authority to levy and collect property taxes is established under the Municipal Act, 2001, 
the Assessment Act, the Education Act and other legislation. 

The amount of the total annual property tax levy is determined each year through Council's approval of the 
annual operating budget. Municipal tax rates are set annually by Council for each class or type of property, 
in accordance with provincial legislation and Council approved policies, in order to raise the revenues 
required to meet operating and capital budget requirements. Education tax rates are established by the 
Province of Ontario each year in order to fund the costs of education on a Province-wide basis. 

Taxation revenues are recorded at the time tax billings are issued. Additional property tax revenue can be 
added throughout the year, related to new properties that become occupied, or that become subject to 
property tax, after the return of the annual assessment roll used for billing purposes. The Corporation may 
receive supplementary assessment information over the course of the year from MPAC that identify new or 
previously omitted assessments. Property taxes for these supplemental/omitted amounts are then billed 
according to the approved tax rate for the applicable property class. 

Taxation revenues in any given year may also be reduced as a result of reductions in assessment values 
rising from assessment appeals. Each year, an amount is identified in the budget to cover the estimated 
amount of revenue loss attributable to assessment appeals, tax appeals, or other deficiencies in tax revenue. 

(h) Deferred revenue: 
The recreational land (Planning Act), development charges fund, and sub divider contributions are 
prescribed by legislation, or agreement and are reported as deferred revenue on the consolidated statement 
of financial position. Grants that are received in the year, but are subject to external restrictions that have 
not been fulfilled, are recorded in deferred revenue until those obligations are met. In addition, certain user 
charges and fees are collected for which the related services have yet to be performed. These amounts are 
recognized as revenue in the fiscal year the related expenditures are incurred or services performed. 

(i) Long-term investments: 
Long-term investments are recorded at cost less any amounts written-off to reflect a permanent decline in 
market value below cost. Investments consist of authorized investments pursuant to provisions of the 
Municipal Act and comprise government and corporate bonds, debentures, pooled investment funds and 
short-term instruments of various financial institutions. 

Investment income earned is reported as revenue in the period earned. Investment income earned on 
obligatory reserve funds is added to the fund balance and forms part of the respective deferred revenue 
balances. 

(j) Inventory: 
Inventory is valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value on a first-in, first-out basis. 

(k) Employee benefits payable: 
The Corporation provides post-retirement health care, life insurance and unused sick leave benefits to 
eligible retired employees. The benefits earned by employees are actuarially determined using 
management's best estimate of salary escalation, retirement ages of employees and expected benefit costs. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF STRATFORD 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended December 31, 2022 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

(k) Employee benefits payable (Continued): 
Past service costs from plan amendments related to prior period employee services are accounted for in the 
period of the plan amendment. The effects of a gain or loss from settlements or curtailments are expensed 
in the period they occur. Net actuarial gains and losses related to the employee benefits are amortized over 
the average remaining service life of the related employee group. Employee future benefit liabilities are 
discounted at the Corporation's cost of borrowing using estimated rates for debt with maturities similar to 
expected benefit payments in the future. The costs of workplace safety and insurance obligations are 
actuarially determined and are expensed. 

(l) Use of estimates: 
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with Canadian public sector 
accounting standards requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the 
consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting 
periods. The amounts subject to such estimates include employee benefits payable, assessment appeals, 
claims provisions, and solid waste landfill closure and post-closure liability. Actual results could differ 
significantly from those estimates. 

(m) Transactions on behalf of others: 
Trust funds operated by the Corporation amounting to $2,965,117 (2021 - $2,884,171) have not been 
included in the consolidated statement of financial position nor have their operations been included in the 
consolidated statement of operations, as they are reported on separately. The Trust funds held by the 
Corporation consist primarily of funds related to legislated perpetual care amounts and prepaids relating to 
cemetery activity. 

(n) Government transfer revenue: 
Government transfer revenue is recorded once it is authorized by the transferring government and the 
Corporation is eligible to receive the transfer. Any amount received but restricted is recorded as deferred 
revenue in accordance with Section 3410 of the Public Sector Accounting Handbook and recognized as 
revenue in the period in which the resources are used for the purpose specified. 

Government transfers include social assistance program funding representing 80-100% of certain social 
services programs, social service administration funding covering 50% of certain administration costs and 
transfers for social housing totaling approximately 20% of costs of the program. 

In addition, the Corporation periodically receives senior government capital funding in the form of 
infrastructure grants and receives ongoing funding from both senior levels of government as a result of an 
allocation of gas tax funds. 

(o) Contaminated sites: 
Public Sector Accounting Handbook section 3260 - Liability for Contaminated Sites, requires that the 
Corporation recognize a liability for remediation of contaminated sites when contamination of a site, for 
which the Corporation is directly responsible or accepts responsibility, exceeds an existing environmental 
standard and a reasonable estimate of the remediation costs can be made. The Corporation has established 
an inventory of municipally owned sites and is in the process of evaluating if it will be required to 
recognize a liability for remediation of any of the sites. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF STRATFORD 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended December 31, 2022 

2. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

The following is a breakdown of cash and cash equivalents and bank indebtedness: 
2022 2021 

General bank accounts 3,478,336 8,523,874 
General reserve bank accounts 36,404,380 34,674,432 
Petty cash 3,337 3,637 

39,886,053 43,201,943 

3. LOANS RECEIVABLE 

The following loans are outstanding at December 31: 
2022 2021

Stratford Perth Museum 256,333 269,966 
Heritage Conservation District Loans 32,709 49,002 
Stratford Soccer Association 50,000 60,000 
Stratford Perth Museum (2) 117,451 124,721 
Stratford Chef School 37,353 145,754 
Stratford Soccer Association Turf Field 410,513 451,565 

904,359 1,101,008 

The Stratford Perth Museum loan matures in 2037, has an interest rate of 3% with repayments of $1,791 
being made monthly. 

The Heritage Conservative District loans are interest-free 10 year loans with maturity dates between March 
2023 and July 2033. 

The Stratford Perth Museum (2) matures in 2038, has an interest rate of 0.5% with repayments of $656 
being made monthly. 

The Stratford Soccer Association loan is a 15 year interest-free loan maturing September 2028 with a 
yearly payment of $10,000. 

The Stratford Chef School loan is a 6 year loan at an interest rate of 5%. 

The Stratford Soccer Association turf field loan is a 15 year interest-free loan maturing December 2032 
with a yearly payment of $41,051. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF STRATFORD 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended December 31, 2022 

4. INVESTMENTS 

2022 
Cost 

2022 
Market Value 

2021 
Cost 

2021 
Market Value 

 Restricted Deposit notes/GIC's 2,358,861 2,022,306 4,436,385 4,357,896 
 Restricted Fixed Income 17,574,685 15,164,599 13,587,732 15,309,350 
Total Restricted 19,933,546 17,186,905 18,024,117 19,667,246 
 Unrestricted Deposit notes/GICs 1,245,459 1,026,073 1,656,960 1,656,960 
 Unrestricted Fixed Income 7,284,668 6,851,801 6,713,898 6,714,413 
Total Unrestricted 8,530,127 7,877,874 8,370,858 8,371,373 
Total 28,463,673 25,064,779 26,394,975 28,038,619 

Investments earn interest between 0.95% and 5.15% and have maturity dates between January 2023 and 
March 2031. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF STRATFORD 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended December 31, 2022 

5. INVESTMENT IN GOVERNMENT BUSINESS ENTERPRISES 

The Corporation holds a 100% interest in Festival Hydro Inc. and Festival Hydro Services Inc. as follows: 

2022 2021 

Festival Hydro (a) 49,639,035 45,896,146 
Festival Hydro Services Inc. (b) 1,646,385 1,588,723 

51,285,420 47,484,869 

(a) Festival Hydro Inc.: 2022 2021 

Financial position: 
    Current assets 13,904,829 14,565,257 
    Capital assets 58,854,033 57,113,909 
    Other assets 2,591,168 1,734,841 
Total assets 75,350,030 73,414,007 

    Regulatory balances 7,503,962 4,527,854 

    Current liabilities 15,289,157 13,115,959 
    Demand loan payable to the City of Stratford 15,600,000 15,600,000 
    Post-employment benefits 1,009,878 1,361,643 
    Other liabilities 15,815,090 15,836,536 
Total liabilities 47,714,125 45,914,138 

    Regulatory balances 1,100,832 1,731,577 

Equity 34,039,035 30,296,146 

Financial activities: 
    Revenues 68,881,680 72,338,384 
    Operating expenses (67,405,916) (69,125,670) 
    Finance costs (net) 172,396 (939,719) 
    Income tax (1,096,421) (917,289) 
    Net movement in regulatory balances 3,526,491 1,758,928 
    Other comprehensive income (loss) 303,258 80,606 
  Equity, beginning of year 30,296,146 27,991,792 
    Dividends paid or payable on shares (638,599) (890,886) 

Equity, end of year 34,039,035 30,296,146 

Investment in Festival Hydro Inc.: 
    Equity, end of year 34,039,035 30,296,146 
    Demand loan payable to the City of Stratford 15,600,000 15,600,000 

Net investment 49,639,035 45,896,146 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF STRATFORD 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended December 31, 2022 

5. INVESTMENT IN GOVERNMENT BUSINESS ENTERPRISES (Continued) 

(b) Festival Hydro Services Inc.: 2022 2021 

Financial Position: 
    Current assets 54,169 78,847 
    Capital assets 2,840,389 3,078,178 
    Other assets 70,719 29,990 
Total assets 2,965,277 3,187,015 

    Current liabilities 56,021 33,211 
    Demand loan payable to the City of Stratford 372,000 372,000 
    Other liabilities 1,262,911 1,565,081 
Total liabilities 1,690,932 1,970,292 

Equity 1,274,345 1,216,723 

Financial activities: 
    Revenues 1,371,559 1,336,141 
    Operating expenses (1,247,932) (1,137,808) 
    Finance costs (net) (43,965) (49,222) 
    Income tax (22,000) (39,000) 
  Equity, beginning of year 1,216,723 1,106,612 
    Dividends on common shares - -

Equity, end of year 1,274,385 1,216,723 

Investment in Festival Hydro Services Inc.: 
    Equity, end of year 1,274,385 1,216,723 
    Demand loan payable to the City of Stratford 372,000 372,000 
Net investment 1,646,385 1,588,723 

During the year, and within the normal course of operations, the Corporation was provided water and sewer 
billing and collection services by Festival Hydro Inc. Amounts paid to Festival Hydro Inc. by the 
corporation were $499,716 (2021 - $494,093). 

The Corporation also leases space from Festival Hydro Inc. for which it paid rent of $33,477 (2021 -
$27,638) during the year. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF STRATFORD 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended December 31, 2022 

6. PENSION AGREEMENT 

The Corporation makes contributions to the Ontario Municipal Employees Retirement System (OMERS), a 
multi-employer plan, on behalf of its employees. The plan is a defined benefit plan which specifies the 
amount of the retirement benefit to be received by the employees based on the length of service and rates of 
pay. The 2022 contribution rates are 9.0% for employee earnings below the year's maximum pensionable 
earnings and 14.6% thereafter for employees with a normal retirement age of 65. The 2021 contribution 
rates were 9.0% for employees earning below the year's maximum pensionable earnings and 14.6% 
thereafter for employees with a normal retirement age of 60. Employees and employers contribute jointly 
to the plan. 

OMERS is a multi-employer plan, therefore any pension plan surpluses or deficits are a joint responsibility 
of Ontario municipal organizations and their employees. As a result, the Corporation does not recognize 
any share of the OMERS pension surplus or deficit. Contributions made by the Corporation to OMERS for 
2022 were $3,544,764 (2021 - $3,554,235) and are matched by employee contributions in a similar 
manner. Employer contributions are recognized as an expenditure in the consolidated statement of financial 
activities in the year contributions are made. 

The OMERS pension plan has a deficit. If actuarial surpluses are not available to offset the existing deficit 
and subsidize future contributions, increases in contributions would be required in the future from all 
OMERS participants. The latest available report for the OMERS plan was December 31, 2022. At that 
time, the Plan reported a $6.7 billion actuarial deficit (2021 - $3.1 billion actuarial deficit). 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF STRATFORD 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended December 31, 2022 

7. DEFERRED REVENUE 

Balance at 
December 31 2021 Additions Withdrawals 

Balance at 
December 31 2022 

Obligatory Reserve Funds: 
    Development charges 14,531,121 6,362,993 5,508,785 15,385,329 
    Subdivider contributions 115,980 4,742 - 120,722 
    Recreational land (The  
      Planning Act) 

769,494 394,201 - 1,163,695 

    Federal gas tax 9,555,789 2,393,315 1,638,952 10,310,152 
    Provincial gas tax 424,736 489,842 418,641 495,937 
    Building permit inspections - 318,465 100,988 217,477 
Other current miscellaneous 728,600 2,588,475 1,354,450 1,962,625 
Other consolidated entities: 
    Other 600,519 38,900 5,484 633,935

26,726,239 12,590,933 9,027,300 30,289,872 

Balance at 
December 31 2020 Additions Withdrawals 

Balance at 
December 31 2021 

Obligatory Reserve Funds: 
    Development charges 12,595,538 2,538,275 602,692 14,531,121 
    Subdivider contributions 113,325 2,655 - 115,980 
    Recreational land (The  
      Planning Act) 

673,955 169,315 73,776 769,494 

    Federal gas tax 6,241,055 4,138,159 823,425 9,555,789 
    Provincial gas tax 612,878 491,933 680,075 424,736 
Other current miscellaneous 2,792,081 586,891 2,650,372 728,600 
Other consolidated entities: 
    Other 406,874 775,046 581,401 600,519 

23,435,706 8,702,274 5,411,741 26,726,239 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF STRATFORD 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended December 31, 2022 

8. SOLID WASTE LANDFILL CLOSURE AND POST-CLOSURE LIABILITY 

Solid waste landfill closure and post-closure liability accounts for anticipated closure and post-closure 
costs for the existing and closed landfill sites. This liability is the estimated cost to date, based on a 
volumetric basis, of the expenditures related to those activities required when the site or phase stops 
accepting waste. 

Post-closure activities include all activities related to monitoring the site once it can no longer accept waste, 
including acquisition of any additional land for buffer zones, treatment and monitoring of leachate, 
monitoring ground water and surface water, gas monitoring and recovery, and ongoing maintenance of 
various control systems, drainage system and final cover. 

The estimated liability for the care of landfill sites is the present value of future cash flows associated with 
closure and post-closure costs. The liability includes the portion of the landfill that was closed in 1995. 
This liability is partially funded by a reserve fund. 

Key assumptions in arriving at the liability are: 

2022 2021 
The landfill is expected to reach capacity in 2043 
Remaining capacity as at December 31 1.25 million tonnes 1.25 million tonnes 
Expected closing cost in 2022 dollars $ 3,736,000 $ 3,620,000 
Costs still to be recognized $ 3,158,662 $ 3,093,143 
Expected inflation rate % 2 % 2
Discount rate % 3.90 % 3.90 
Estimated time needed for post-closure care 50 Years 50 Years 

The Corporation has established a reserve fund to assist with the post closure costs. The reserve fund has a 
balance of $577,338 (2021 - $526,857). 

9. CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS 

At December 31, the Corporation had a number of contracts and commitments that remained fully or 
partially outstanding as noted, representing future year commitments: 

The Corporation has a contract with Ontario Clean Water Agency to operate the sewage system. The 
term of the agreement is 10 years for the period January 1, 2018 to December 31, 2027. The contract 
fees amounting to $1,039,567 (2021 - $996,072) are reported in the Consolidated Statement of 
Operations. The 2023 commitment is $1,126,045. 

The Corporation has entered into several agreements for the lease and supply of various equipment, 
vehicles and services with expected payments of approximately $2,233,800 for 2023. 

In February 2022, the Corporation entered into an agreement for purchase of service agreement with 
StormFisher Environmental Ltd. for the processing of source separated organics for $100.01 per tonne, 
and expected tonnage of 1,000 annually to March 2023 with a future year commitment of $100,000. 

The Corporation has outstanding contractual obligations of approximately $8,226,200 at December 31, 
2022 for various capital works that were not completed in 2022. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF STRATFORD 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended December 31, 2022 

10. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS PAYABLE 

Employee future benefits are liabilities of the Corporation to its employees and early retirees for benefits 
earned but not taken. Details are as follows: 

2022 2021 
Post-retirement benefits (a) 10,999,076 11,319,748 
Workplace Safety and Insurance Board Obligation (b) 4,782,242 3,914,342 

15,781,318 15,234,090 

The Corporation provides benefits to retirees until they reach 65 years of age, provides certain benefits to 
employees on long-term disability, allows certain employees to accumulate unused sick leave to be taken as 
a cash payment on termination. Above values are based on actuarial and management estimates as at 
December 31, 2022. 

(a) The actuarial analysis is only for the City of Stratford, not including WSIB. Significant assumptions 
used in the actuarial valuation are as follows: 

2022 2021 
Discount rate % 2.60 % 2.60 
Rate of compensation increase % 2.50 % 1.50 
Healthcare cost increase % 8.00 % 8.00 

The benefit obligation continuity is as follows: 

2022 2021 
Accrued benefit obligation end of prior year 10,696,300 10,605,700 
    Current period benefit cost 651,800 635,300 
    Retirement interest expenditure 281,100 281,500 
    Benefits paid (1,070,000) (826,200) 
Accrued Benefit Obligation as at December 31 10,559,200 10,696,300 
    Unamortized actuarial (gain) loss (228,800) -
Liability for post-retirement benefits 10,330,400 10,696,300 

Post-retirement benefits expense is as follows: 

2022 2021 
    Current period benefit cost 651,800 635,300 
    Retirement interest expenditure 281,100 281,500 
    Amortization of actuarial (gain) loss 166,100 179,400 
Total post-retirement benefits expense 1,099,000 1,096,200 

Reserves have been established to partially provide for this past service liability. The balance at the end of 
the year is $5,878,907 (2021 - $6,118,111). An amount of $609,387 (2021 - $nil) was paid out of reserves 
to employees who left the Corporation's employment during the current year. 

(b) The City of Stratford is a Workplace Safety and Insurance Board (WSIB) Schedule 2 employer. The 
Corporation has recorded an accrual for the estimate of future benefit costs and administrative loading as 
calculated by actuaries. During the year, $726,132 (2021 - $789,409) was paid by the Corporation to the 
WSIB in relation to those benefits. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF STRATFORD 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended December 31, 2022 

11. LONG-TERM DEBT 

The balance of long-term debt reported on the consolidated statement of financial position consists of total 
long-term debt incurred by municipal enterprises. The amount at the end of the year is as follows: 

2022 2021 

OSIFA debenture bearing interest at 2.57% due June 2032 12,728,533 14,068,377 
OSIFA debenture bearing interest at 2.78% due September 2024 134,000 201,000 
OSIFA debenture bearing interest at 2.74% due November 2028 1,735,208 2,024,409 
OMEIFA debenture bearing interest at 4.96% due November 2034 8,071,858 8,744,512 
OMEIFA debenture bearing interest at 2.70% due November 2034 729,797 780,666 
OMEIFA debenture bearing interest at 4.28% due December 2024 733,333 1,100,000 
OMEIFA debenture bearing interest at 3.21% due December 2026 5,611,369 7,014,212 
OMEIFA debenture bearing interest at 3.42% due December 2023 4,482,867 4,890,400 
Royal Bank loan payable, interest at 2.63% per annum, due February 2026 - 141,254 
Royal Bank loan payable, interest at 2.42% per annum, due June 2024 493,893 684,669 
Royal Bank loan payable, interest at 2.84% per annum, due April 2027 3,480,287 3,633,760 
Royal Bank loan payable, interest at 2.88% per annum, due April 2028 3,446,278 3,597,657 
Royal Bank loan payable, interest at 2.49% per annum, due April 2025 512,591 723,151 
Royal Bank loan payable, interest at 2.51% per annum, due April 2023 1,012,412 1,081,559 
Royal Bank loan payable, interest at 2.80% per annum, due April 2026 1,021,765 1,090,233 
Royal Bank loan payable, interest at 5.65% per annum, due October 2027 3,595,127 -
Royal Bank loan payable, interest at 5.66% per annum, due October 2027 1,716,534 -

49,505,852 49,775,859 

Principal repayments are summarized as follows: 

2023 5,674,739 
2024 5,708,339 
2025 5,061,211 
2026 4,913,662 
2027 3,540,911 
Thereafter 24,606,990 

49,505,852 

Long-term liabilities and commitments to be financed from reserves beyond the term of Council are 
covered by by-law. The principal and interest payments required to service existing and pending issues and 
commitments are within the debt repayment limit prescribed by the Ministry of Municipal Affairs. 

Total interest on long-term debt was $2,379,437 (2021 - $1,920,798). 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF STRATFORD 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended December 31, 2022 

12. PUBLIC LIABILITY INSURANCE 

In recent years, there have been substantial increases in premiums charged by the insurance industry for 
public liability insurance. As a result, the Corporation has undertaken some portion of the risk, which 
would historically have been covered by outside insurers. 

The Corporation is self-insured for public liability claims up to $50,000 for any individual claim and 
$50,000 for any number of claims arising out of a single occurrence. Outside coverage is in place for 
claims in excess of these limits. 

As at December 31, 2022, there are legal claims commenced against the Corporation that remain 
outstanding. No provision has been made for any claims that are expected to be covered by insurance or 
where the consequences are undeterminable. Where the claims are not expected to be covered by insurance 
and where management has assessed the likelihood of exposure as being more likely that not and is able to 
reasonably assess the exposure, an amount is provided for in these consolidated financial statements. 

13. ACCUMULATED SURPLUS 

The accumulated surplus balance is comprised of balances in reserves and reserve funds, operating surplus, 
capital surplus, unfunded liabilities to be recovered in the future, investment in government business 
enterprises and investment in tangible capital assets. 

2022 2021 

Reserves set aside for specific purposes by Council: 18,154,667 17,292,291 

Reserve Funds set aside for specific purpose by Council: 43,555,896 45,254,869 

Amounts to be recovered: 
    Investment in Government Business Enterprise (15,972,000) (15,972,000) 
    Solid waste landfill closure and post closure liability (3,736,000) (3,620,000) 
    Employee benefits payable (15,781,318) (15,234,090) 
    Long-term debt (49,505,852) (49,775,859) 
    Interest accrual on debt (124,978) (112,992) 
Total amounts to be recovered (85,120,148) (84,714,941) 

Cumulative operating deficit (8,126,796) (9,780,640) 
Investment in Government Business Enterprise 51,285,420 47,484,869 
Land held for resale 347,651 347,651 
Work in progress 25,041,542 15,803,877 
Investment in tangible capital assets 317,625,572 302,059,308 
Total accumulated surplus 362,763,804 333,747,284 

The cumulative operating deficit reflects the Corporation's $1,169,805 cash-basis operating surplus as well 
as PSAB and consolidated adjustments. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF STRATFORD 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended December 31, 2022 

14. CONTINGENCIES 

As of December 31, 2022, certain legal actions and other contingent liabilities are pending against the 
Corporation. Reference can be made to note 12 for details of the public liability insurance maintained by 
the Corporation. Not all contingencies can be estimated at year-end since the outcome of these matters is 
indeterminate at this time. 

15. FINANCIAL INFORMATION FOR THE LIBRARY BOARD 

The Ministry of Culture provides operating grants and pay equity grants to the Library. A condition of this 
grant is that the Library Board supply its financial information to the Ministry. This information may be 
included in the consolidated financial statements provided that the financial information of the library is 
identified either by a separate schedule or a note. 

2022 2021 
Revenue 
    Other grant revenue 6,146 8,074 
    Public library operating grant 57,509 57,275 
    Investment and interest income 35 -
    Fees and charges 374,398 458,958 
    Donations 63,734 5,560 
    Total revenue 501,822 529,867 

Expenses 
    Wages 2,238,959 2,258,504 
    Materials 109,450 104,395 
    Services 526,298 381,795 
    Other 37,315 94,296 
    Total Expenses 2,912,022 2,838,990 

Deficiency of revenue over expenses 2,410,200 2,309,123 

Deficiency was funded as follows: 
    Transfer from (to) reserves and reserve funds (230,724) (227,853) 
    Contribution from the Corporation 2,640,924 2,536,976 

2,410,200 2,309,123 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF STRATFORD 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended December 31, 2022 

16. GOVERNMENT PARTNERSHIP - HURON PERTH PUBLIC HEALTH 

The Corporation of the City of Stratford is a partner in Huron Perth Public Health. The Corporation 
provides 23.26% (2021 - 23.40%) of the municipal funding for the Cost Shared Mandatory related 
programs. The Corporation's share of results of Huron Perth Public Health's financial results from 
operations for the year and its financial position at year-end have been consolidated within these financial 
statements. At December 31, 2022 Huron Perth Public Health's financial results and financial performance 
are as follows: 

2022 2021 
Financial assets 2,888,072 2,711,957 
Liabilities (4,024,830) (3,731,424) 
Non-financial assets 5,689,986 5,572,695 
Accumulated surplus 4,553,228 4,553,228 

Revenues 22,273,577 23,077,870 
Expenses (22,273,577) (24,424,804) 
Annual surplus/(deficit) before restructuring adjustments - (1,346,934) 

The Corporation's share of Huron Perth Public Health's assets, liabilities and accumulated surplus at 
December 31, 2022 are as follows: 

Financial assets 671,766 634,598 
Liabilities (936,175) (873,153) 
Non-financial assets 1,323,491 1,304,011 
Accumulated surplus 1,059,082 1,065,456 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF STRATFORD 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended December 31, 2022 

17. GOVERNMENT PARTNERSHIP - SPRUCE LODGE 

The Corporation of the City of Stratford is a partner in Spruce Lodge Home for the Aged and its related 
entities. The Corporation provides 41.11% (2021 - 41.13%) of the municipal funding for the Costs Shared 
Mandatory related programs. The Corporation's share of results of Spruce Lodge Home for the Aged and its 
related entities' financial results from operations for the year and its financial position at year-end have 
been consolidated within these financial statements. At December 31, 2022, Spruce Lodge Home for the 
Aged and its related entities' financial results and financial performance are as follows: 

2022 2021 
Financial assets 5,043,304 6,067,494 
Liabilities (3,384,404) (3,052,823) 
Non-financial assets 7,373,659 7,118,708 
Accumulated surplus 9,032,559 10,133,379 

Revenues 16,366,028 14,042,219 
Expenses (16,602,240) (14,135,155) 
Annual deficit (236,212) (92,936) 

The Corporation's share of Spruce Lodge Home for the Aged and its related entities' assets, liabilities and 
accumulated surplus at December 31, 2022 are as follows: 

Financial assets 2,073,302 2,495,560 
Liabilities (1,391,328) (1,255,626) 
Non-financial assets 3,031,311 2,927,925 
Accumulated surplus 3,713,285 4,167,859 

18. CHANGE IN PROPORTIONATE CONSOLIDATION 

The change in proportionate consolidation of joint local boards is the result of new funding agreements 
effective January 1, 2022. The resulting changes in funding percentages and their effects are as follows: 

2022 2021 Change 
Funding percentage 
    Huron Perth Public Health % 23.26 % 23.40 % -0.14 
    Spruce Lodge % 41.11 % 41.13 % -0.02 

January 1, 2022 
Effect of Change in Funding Percentages 
Tangible capital assets 
    Cost (14,202) 
    Accumulated amortization 5,269 
    Net book value (8,933) 

Net financial assets 1,260 
Other non-financial assets (508) 
Change in Net Municipal Position (8,181) 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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19. SEGMENTED INFORMATION 

The Corporation of the City of Stratford is a diversified municipal government institution that provides a 
wide range of services to its citizens. For reporting purposes, the Corporation's operations and activities are 
organized in segments. The services and activities of each segment are as follows: 

General government 
This item is related to the revenues and expenses of the operations of the Corporation itself and cannot be 
directly attributed to a specific segment. 

Protection services 
Protection is comprised of police services, fire department and building department. The police services 
department is to ensure the safety and protection of the citizens and their property, preserve peace and good 
order, detect offenders and enforce the law. The fire department provides fire suppression service, fire 
prevention programs, training and education related to prevention and detection of fires. The building 
department enforces the building and construction codes and municipal by-laws. 

Transportation services 
Transportation services include public works services related to planning, development and maintenance of 
the roadway systems, street lighting, transit and parallel transit, parking administration and control and the 
operations of the Stratford Municipal Airport. 

Environmental services 
Environmental services include providing sanitary and storm sewer, water, waste collection and disposal 
and recycling services. 

Health services 
Health services are comprised of public health services which works to improve the overall health of the 
population and overcome health inequalities by providing services to individuals and communities. This 
segment also includes ambulance services and cemetery operations. 

Social and family services 
Social Services provide services that are meant to help the less fortunate in society through Ontario Works 
assistance, child care subsidy program and best start and special needs programs. This segment also 
includes the operations of a municipal day care. 

Social housing 
Housing services are meant to help the less fortunate through social housing, affordable housing and public 
housing programs. 

Recreation and cultural services 
Recreation and cultural services are meant to improve the health and development of the citizens. Programs 
such as swimming, skating, day camps, festivals and library services are provided at locations such as 
parks, libraries, art gallery, recreation complexes, arenas, sports field and other municipal buildings. This 
segment also includes grants to numerous community organizations providing recreation and cultural 
activities. 

Planning and development 
Planning and development services manages urban development for business interests, environmental 
concerns, heritage matters, local neighbourhoods and the city centre. This segment also includes economic 
development and tourism. 

For each reported segment, revenues and expenses represent the amounts that are directly attributable to the 
segment and amounts that are allocated on a reasonable basis. Therefore, certain allocation methodologies 
are used in preparation of segmented financial information. The revenue fund reports on municipal services 
that are funding primarily by property taxation revenues. Taxation and payments-in-lieu of taxes are 
apportioned based on the segment's net surplus. The segmented information follows the same accounting 
policies as disclosed in Note 1. 
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19. SEGMENTED INFORMATION (Continued) 

For the year ended 
December 31 

General 
Government 

Protection 
Services 

Transportation 
Services 

Environmental 
Services 

Health 
Services 

Social and 
Family 

Services 

Social 
Housing 

Recreation 
and Cultural 

Services 

Planning & 
Development 

Total 2022

Revenue 
Taxation 5,626,988 12,165,819 7,412,143 6,583,521 4,703,218 16,519,200 6,814,900 6,114,410 3,121,477 69,061,676 
Grants 11,193,855 667,590 519,890 418,507 4,446,003 25,780,705 1,373,506 234,852 537,185 45,172,093 
Other municipalities - 1,800,509 - - - 1,373,802 7,593,054 42,686 - 10,810,051 
Fees and user charges 614,665 249,417 1,541,127 16,637,858 197,634 3,849,641 2,696,670 830,030 275,964 26,893,006 
Licences and permits 359,646 345,215 676,172 - 363,509 - 3,149,360 1,678,372 604,629 7,176,903 
Rents, fines, penalties 401,688 - - 98,768 - - - 4,525 - 504,981 
Other 8,610,642 27,821 19,630 12,193 2,376,955 13,368 - 130,017 147,878 11,338,504 

26,807,484 15,256,371 10,168,962 23,750,847 12,087,319 47,536,716 21,627,490 9,034,892 4,687,133 170,957,214 

Expenses 
Salaries and benefits 5,555,883 21,795,581 6,399,879 3,168,315 516,647 6,108,842 324,288 6,144,468 1,188,339 51,202,242 
Materials 394,995 1,001,057 2,930,976 1,463,819 108,386 1,326,764 3,038,195 1,335,948 118,917 11,719,057 
Contracted Services 4,479,613 1,314,259 2,118,255 5,035,977 37,632 2,430,456 1,227,631 1,910,895 744,672 19,299,390 
External Transfers - - - - 3,681,263 15,805,387 2,143,644 1,234,038 4,038,051 26,902,383 
Amortization 688,415 714,166 3,639,786 2,576,994 222,779 306,445 439,129 1,447,647 - 10,035,361 
Other 445,432 177,593 144,213 1,285,057 5,099,140 7,971,637 6,832,795 493,070 325,143 22,774,080 

11,564,338 25,002,656 15,233,109 13,530,162 9,665,847 33,949,531 14,005,682 12,566,066 6,415,122 141,932,513 

Net Revenue 
(expenditure) 

15,243,146 (9,746,285) (5,064,147) 10,220,685 2,421,472 13,587,185 7,621,808 (3,531,174) (1,727,989) 29,024,701 
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19. SEGMENTED INFORMATION (Continued) 

For the year ended 
December 31 

General 
Government 

Protection 
Services 

Transportation 
Services 

Environmental 
Services 

Health 
Services 

Social and 
Family 

Services 

Social 
Housing 

Recreation and 
Cultural 
Services 

Planning & 
Development 

Total 2021 

Revenue 
Taxation 4,428,751 11,549,165 7,200,693 6,290,218 5,032,781 14,177,673 6,876,808 5,672,904 3,039,497 64,268,490 
Grants 7,336,606 508,731 1,966,559 370,498 4,714,410 21,718,425 1,490,229 178,039 234,928 38,518,425 
Other municipalities 104,211 1,620,078 - - 645,507 1,654,708 7,693,639 41,443 - 11,759,586 
Fees and user 
charges 

209,060 327,122 1,164,458 15,667,131 72,760 3,383,965 2,505,457 662,327 392,430 24,384,710 

Licences and permits 252,763 253,861 459,888 - 481,470 - 858,697 1,181,865 1,018,725 4,507,269 
Rents, fines, 
penalties 

370,561 - - 116,731 - - - 2,053 - 489,345 

Other 5,401,955 3,758 19,814 13,414 1,024,707 10,413 - 100,545 108,762 6,683,368
18,103,907 14,262,715 10,811,412 22,457,992 11,971,635 40,945,184 19,424,830 7,839,176 4,794,342 150,611,193 

Expenses 
Salaries and benefits 4,332,738 20,488,212 6,626,077 3,338,625 494,799 5,181,784 1,057,435 5,502,468 1,057,478 48,079,616 
Materials 421,887 789,631 2,316,551 1,373,289 89,520 927,547 2,734,663 1,195,215 115,420 9,963,723 
Contracted Services 2,505,744 1,010,757 2,010,195 4,637,960 43,625 1,614,521 1,390,814 1,591,946 608,387 15,413,949 
External Transfers 413,029 - - - 3,600,988 14,722,442 7,072,746 970,830 3,913,889 30,693,924 
Amortization 685,996 723,494 3,341,886 2,479,431 80,015 11,874 15,282 1,545,113 10,258 8,893,349 
Other 285,300 130,984 134,577 775,503 5,776,116 5,952,110 1,509,320 562,217 385,339 15,511,466 

8,644,694 23,143,078 14,429,286 12,604,808 10,085,063 28,410,278 13,780,260 11,367,789 6,090,771 128,556,027 

Net Revenue 
(expenditures) 

9,459,213 (8,880,363) (3,617,874) 9,853,184 1,886,572 12,534,906 5,644,570 (3,528,613) (1,296,429) 22,055,166 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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20. TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS 

General Land 
Land 

Improvements 

Building and 
Building 

Equipment 
Computer 

Equipment 
Furniture and 

Fixtures Vehicles 
Linear 
Assets 

Machinery 
and 

Equipment  Other 
Infrastructure 

Roads  Bridges 
 W/WW 

Facilities 

 Underground 
and Other 
Networks Total 

 Work in 
Progress  Grand Total 

Cost 

Balance, Dec 31, 2021 
17,630,468 10,299,287 84,992,541 3,029,223 5,969,851 14,343,539 4,122,727 18,476,459 140,039 129,541,190 10,169,966 93,898,098 105,987,403 498,600,791 15,803,877 514,404,668 

Additions 111,181 321,128 1,283,412 175,166 372,869 1,492,607 - 1,785,858 - 13,166,495 94,665 2,165,774 4,999,568 25,968,723 9,450,314 35,419,037 
Adjustments (644) (15) (10,809) - (480) - - (2,237) - (16) - - - (14,201) - (14,201) 
Disposals - 184,045 161,758 98,234 395,111 1,099,251 - 206,017 - 1,221,648 - - - 3,366,064 212,649 3,578,713 

Balance, Dec 31, 2022 
17,741,005 10,436,355 86,103,386 3,106,155 5,947,129 14,736,895 4,122,727 20,054,063 140,039 143,929,317 10,264,631 96,063,872 110,986,971 521,189,249 25,041,542 546,230,791 

Accumulated Amortization 

Balance, Dec 31, 2021 
- 2,878,308 36,838,147 2,599,508 4,586,760 7,008,792 3,590,649 12,676,124 17,718 58,596,683 3,637,609 37,865,952 26,245,233 196,541,483 - 196,541,483 

Amortization - 338,973 2,185,801 179,205 198,901 1,195,265 77,688 1,135,320 - 2,302,147 146,492 1,327,648 947,921 10,035,361 - 10,035,361 
Adjustments - (12) (3,534) - (194) - - (1,517) - (11) - - - (5,268) - (5,268) 
Disposals - 172,041 124,664 96,522 395,111 1,099,251 - 201,888 - 918,422 - - - 3,007,899 - 3,007,899 

Balance, Dec 31, 2022 
- 3,217,269 38,895,750 2,778,713 4,390,356 7,104,806 3,668,337 13,608,039 17,718 59,980,397 3,784,101 39,193,600 27,193,154 203,563,677 - 203,563,677 

Net Book Value Dec 31, 

2022 
17,741,005 7,219,086 47,207,636 327,442 1,556,773 7,632,089 454,390 6,446,024 122,321 83,948,920 6,480,530 56,870,272 83,793,817 317,625,572 25,041,542 342,667,114 

Cost 

Balance, Dec 31, 2020 
17,357,037 10,260,949 83,030,116 2,960,446 5,967,282 10,235,767 4,876,311 17,894,092 140,039 127,338,556 9,913,608 93,511,046 92,459,700 475,944,949 13,772,470 489,717,419 

Additions 274,259 38,692 2,062,204 68,777 399,295 4,380,293 81,354 942,411 - 2,202,979 272,251 387,052 13,527,703 24,637,270 2,743,865 27,381,135 
Adjustments (828) (354) (75,435) - (725) - - (18,050) - (345) - - - (95,737) - (95,737) 
Disposals - 24,344 - 396,001 272,521 834,938 341,994 - - 15,893 - - 1,885,691 712,458 2,598,149 

Balance, Dec 31, 2021 
17,630,468 10,299,287 84,992,541 3,029,223 5,969,851 14,343,539 4,122,727 18,476,459 140,039 129,541,190 10,169,966 93,898,098 105,987,403 498,600,791 15,803,877 514,404,668 

Accumulated Amortization 

Balance, Dec 31, 2020 
- 2,556,205 34,589,419 2,403,855 4,649,009 6,228,187 4,045,084 11,909,095 17,718 56,402,294 3,504,267 36,571,208 25,388,092 188,264,433 - 188,264,433 

Amortization - 322,381 2,294,493 195,653 322,887 1,053,126 77,688 1,120,146 - 2,194,627 146,375 1,294,744 857,141 9,879,261 - 9,879,261 
Adjustments - (278) (39,738) - (426) - - (13,860) - (238) - - - (54,540) - (54,540) 
Disposals - - 6,027 - 384,710 272,521 532,123 339,257 - - 13,033 - - 1,547,671 - 1,547,671 

Balance, Dec 31, 2021 
- 2,878,308 36,838,147 2,599,508 4,586,760 7,008,792 3,590,649 12,676,124 17,718 58,596,683 3,637,609 37,865,952 26,245,233 196,541,483 - 196,541,483 

Net Book Value Dec 31, 

2021 
17,630,468 7,420,979 48,154,394 429,715 1,383,091 7,334,747 532,078 5,800,335 122,321 70,944,507 6,532,357 56,032,146 79,742,170 302,059,308 15,803,877 317,863,185 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF STRATFORD 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended December 31, 2022 

21. BUDGET 

The Financial Plan (budget) By-law adopted by Council on February 14, 2022 was not prepared on a basis 
consistent with that used to report actual results (Public Sector Accounting Standards). The budget was 
prepared on a modified accrual basis while Canadian Public Sector Accounting Standards now require 
reporting on a full accrual basis. The budget figures anticipated use of surpluses accumulated in previous 
years to reduce current year expenditures in excess of current year revenues to $nil. In addition, the budget 
reflects expensing all tangible capital expenditures rather than including just amortization expense. As a 
result, the budget figures presented in the statement of operations represent the Financial Plan adopted by 
Council February 14, 2022 including a proportionate consolidated budgets of local boards with adjustments 
as follows: 

2022 

Financial Plan (budget) Bylaw deficit for the year -
Add: 
    Budgeted principal repayment of debt 8,593,071 
    Budgeted transfer to accumulated surplus 10,627,900 
    Capital Expenditures 40,235,075 
Less: 
    Budgeted transfers from accumulated surplus (28,773,519) 
    Unfinanced Capital (4,686,080) 
    Amortization (10,035,361) 
Budget surplus (deficit) per statement of operations 15,961,086 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF STRATFORD 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended December 31, 2022 

22. FINANCIAL INFORMATION FOR STRATFORD ECONOMIC ENTERPRISE DEVELOPMENT 
CORPORATION (SEED CO.) 

2022 2021 
Revenue 
    Ontario grants 271,988 207,428 
    Federal grants 182,808 19,300 
    Other revenue 67,493 11,370 
    Total revenue 522,289 238,098 

Expenses 
    Wages 594,821 491,362 
    Materials 29,615 22,459 
    Services 357,600 203,919 
    Special project - 1,231 
    Other 120,233 157,461 
    Total expenses 1,102,269 876,432 

Deficiency of revenue over expenses 579,980 638,334 

Deficiency was funded as follows: 
    Contribution from the Corporation 622,202 599,092 
    Contribution (to) from reserve (42,222) 39,242 

579,980 638,334 

23. COVID-19 PANDEMIC 

During and subsequent to year end, the Corporation has been impacted by the effects of the world-wide 
coronavirus pandemic. The Corporation is closely monitoring its operations and is actively working to 
minimize the current and future impact of this unprecedented situation.  Measures in place to combat the 
health threat of the virus have caused material disruption to Corporation services.  The duration and impact 
of the outbreak is unknown at this time, as are the efficacy of the government and central bank 
interventions.  Library, Recreation centres and other Corporation facilities have been closed to the public 
on and off throughout the pandemic. Council has approved COVID-19 Tax Relief application programs for 
2022 tax instalments to provide relief to taxpayers. At the time of financial statement preparation, it is not 
possible to reliably estimate the length and severity of the measures nor their impact on the future financial 
results of the Municipality. 

24. COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS 

The comparative amounts presented in the consolidated financial statements have been reclassified to 
conform to the current year's presentation. 
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CEO Workplan for 2025 
The following objectives and actions are scheduled to be undertaken by the CEO and the senior management team in 2025. 

STRATEGIC DIRECTION 1    ALIGN SPACE WITH DEMAND 

OBJECTIVE ACTION ITEM TIMELINE STATUS 
Develop Short Term Solutions 
to Address Current Space 
Concerns 

Investigate the opportunity to pilot a mobile library solution Q3 
Use library space in new and creative ways Q4 
Library reorganization and clean up Q4 

Investigate future space 
options for the long term 

Obtain commitment or not on the Grand Trunk Community Hub Q2 
Hire, onboard, and coach a fundraiser / advocacy specialist Q2 

STRATEGIC DIRECTION 2    REACH OUT AND BRING IN 

OBJECTIVE ACTION ITEM TIMELINE STATUS 
Raise profile of SPL Library Card Campaign to engage non-users Q4 

Expand promotion and profile of core library services in new creative 
ways 

Q4 

Provide presentations to municipal council and other stakeholders Q4 
Determine economic impact of SPL with the Valuing of Ontario 
Libraries Toolkit 

Q2 

Take the Library Out into the 
Community 

Have a library presence at community events Q4 
Expand promotion of the library out in the community Q4 

Build Opportunities for “Joy” 
with the Community 

Q4 
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STRATEGIC DIRECTION 3    LEAD GROUNDED PRACTICE 

OBJECTIVE ACTION ITEM TIMELINE STATUS 
Develop Diversity, Equity and 
Inclusion Strategies 

Provide staff training in diversity, equity, inclusion and accessibility Q4  

Ensure all in the community 
feel welcome in the Library 

Assess and improve the space for accessibility and neurodiversity Q4  
Conduct a Diversity Audit on the collection Q4  
Update collections and services to reflect our changing community 
profile 

Q4  

Address the loneliness pandemic by creating opportunities for social 
connection 

Q4  

 

STRATEGIC DIRECTION 4    BUILD SUSTAINABLE PARTNERSHIPS TO EXPAND CAPACTIY 

OBJECTIVE ACTION ITEM TIMELINE STATUS 
Leverage PCIN partnership for 
joint benefit of all partners 

Investigate new ways to partner with PCIN partners to further our 
reach  

Q4   

Support the implementation of the PCIN Strategic Plan Q4  
Conduct a records management assessment for PCIN Q3  

Relationship Building Form strategic partnerships with community organizations Q4   
Build community wide support for the Library using a variety of 
methods 

Q4  

Update partnership framework policy and procedures Q3  
Support the Municipality Support priorities in the Stratford Climate Action Plan Q4   

Support priorities in the Stratford Cultural Action Plan Q4   
Support priorities in the Stratford Sports Tourism Action Plan Q4  
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STRATEGIC DIRECTION 5    INTENTIONALLY SUPPORT OUR TEAM 

OBJECTIVE ACTION ITEM TIMELINE STATUS 
Ensure Health and Safety of 
Staff 

Create an Emergency Procedure Manual Q1  
Provide staff training  Q4  
Conduct a Safety Audit Q3  

Support work and learning by 
providing staff with 
appropriate resources 

Transition the Library Staff Portal to SharePoint Q1  
Update staff workstations and network equipment Q4  
Improve digital comfort levels among staff Q4  
Implement new services standards Q4  
Improve efficiency though task assessment review Q2  

Pay Equity Maintenance Update the staff pay grid Q3  
Undergo a salary comparison and update as necessary  Q3  

Policy Review and 
Development 

Creation of new policies and procedures to support staff and the 
library 

Q4  

Update policies scheduled for review Q4  
   

 



SPL Report to the Board 
MEETING DATE: DECEMBER 10, 2024 
FROM: KRISTA ROBINSON, CEO | LIBRARY DIRECTOR and 

POLICY REVIEW COMMITTEE 
SUBJECT: POLICY REVIEW DECEMBER 2024 

Recommendation 
THAT the Library Board approve the recommended changes to the Respect in the Workplace policy and the 
review of the Health and Safety policy. 

Background 
It is the responsibility of the Library Board to periodically review the policies that governs it, the CEO, and the 
Library. Prompted by the Board’s schedule for evaluation of existing policies, the Health and Safety Policy and 
the Respect in the Workplace Policy have been reviewed. These are both Library Board policies.  

Report 
HR 04 Health and Safety Policy 
No changes are being proposed for this policy. 

HR 05 Respect in the Workplace Policy 
Recent changes to the OHSA have updated the definition of a workplace harassment and workplace sexual 
harassment to include virtually through the use of information and communication technology.  The policy 
language has been updated to reflect that change. 



 

POLICY: 

Health and Safety 

POLICY NO: 

HR 04 
POLICY LEVEL:  
Library Board 

LAST REVIEW / 
REVISION DATE: 
December 2023 

SCHEDULED 
REVIEW DATE: 
December 2024 

  

Stratford Public Library Board Policy No HR 04 | Health and Safety 

Health and Safety 
The Stratford Public Library is committed to promoting and providing a safe and healthy work 
environment that prevents occupational illness and injury for its staff in the workplace. The Library is 
committed to continually improving its health and safety performance and will strive to reduce or 
eliminate foreseeable risks by working collaboratively with management, supervisors and staff.  

The Stratford Public Library Board delegates the authority to administer procedures and compliance 
related to health and safety to the Chief Executive Officer per the Board’s policy, Hiring and 
Management of Employees. 

Responsibility 

The Ontario Occupational Health and Safety Act requires employers to prepare and review, at least 
annually, a written occupational health and safety policy, and to develop and maintain a program to 
implement the policy.  

The Stratford Public Library Board, as employer, is ultimately responsible for worker health and safety. 
The Library Board and its management will take all reasonable steps to prevent injury and create a safe 
and healthy workplace. 

To achieve this, the Library will include health and safety concerns in organizational activities through 
ongoing consultation and interaction with the Joint Health and Safety Committee and Health and Safety 
Representatives. The Board is dedicated to this through ongoing assessments and annual review of the 
Library’s Health and Safety program. 

Supervisors must be accountable for the health and safety of workers under their direct supervision. 
Supervisors are responsible to ensure that workers are aware of potential or actual workplace hazards 
and follow established safe work practices and procedures. Workers are to receive training in their work 
tasks to protect their health and safety before commencement of the job. 

Every worker is to protect, and is responsible for, his or her own health and safety by working in 
compliance with the legislative requirements, safe work practices, procedures, standards, safety rules, 
and rules of conduct as established by the Library. 

It is in the best interest of all levels of the Library to consider health and safety in every activity. 
Commitment to health and safety is an integral part of this organization, from workers to senior 
management. 

References: 
• Occupational Health and Safety Act 
• HR 01 Hiring and Management of Employees 

 
ORIGINAL DATE ADOPTED March 20, 2007 Review Cycle Annually 
REVIEW/APPROVAL 
HISTORY 

December 9, 2014; November 6, 2018, December 5, 2023 

 



 

POLICY: 

Respect in the Workplace 

POLICY NO: 

HR 05 
POLICY LEVEL:  
Library Board 

LAST REVIEW / 
REVISION DATE: 
December 2023 

SCHEDULED 
REVIEW DATE: 
DECEMBER 2024 

  

Stratford Public Library Board Policy No HR 05 | Respect in the Workplace  

Respect in the Workplace  
The Stratford Public Library board recognizes the dignity and worth of every person and is committed to 
providing a workplace free from discrimination and harassment and ensuring that any complaint is 
resolved quickly and with fairness and confidentiality.   

This policy applies to any person in the workplace, including employees, managers, supervisors, 
consultants, independent contractors, and others with whom employees interact, such as clients, 
vendors, volunteers and members of the public, as applicable.  

Legislation prohibits actions that discriminate against or harass people based on protected grounds. 
Stratford Public Library will not tolerate discrimination, violence or harassment on these grounds or for 
any other reason. 

Discrimination  
The Library values diversity in its workplace and prohibits employment discrimination. 

Discrimination means any form of unequal treatment based on a protected ground, whether imposing 
extra burdens or denying benefits. It may be intentional or unintentional. It may involve direct actions 
that are discriminatory on their face, or it may involve rules, practices or procedures that appear neutral 
but disadvantage certain groups of people. Discrimination may take obvious forms or occur in very 
subtle ways. 

Workplace Harassment 
Workplace harassment will not be tolerated by any person in the workplace, including customers, 
clients, service providers, other employers, managers, workers, and members of the public, as 
applicable. 

Harassment means engaging in the course of vexatious comments or conduct against a worker in a 
workplace, including virtually through the use of information and communications technology, that is 
known or ought to be known to be unwelcome. This may include words or actions that are known or 
should be known to be offensive, embarrassing, humiliating, demeaning, or unwelcome. based on a 
ground identified by this policy. 

Sexual Harassment means engaging in vexatious comments or conduct against a worker in a workplace, 
including virtually through the use of information and communications technology, because of sex, 
sexual orientation, gender, gender identity, or gender expression, where the course of comment or 
conduct is known or ought reasonably to be known to be unwelcome. It also includes making a sexual 
solicitation or advance where the person making the solicitation or advance is in a position to confer, 
grant, or deny a benefit or advancement to the worker, and the person knows or ought reasonably to 
know that the solicitation or advance is unwelcome.  

Psychological Harassment (Bullying) means vexatious behaviour that manifests itself in the 
form of conduct, verbal comments, actions, or gestures characterized by being repetitive, 
hostile or unwanted, affecting a person’s dignity or psychological integrity and results in a 
harmful work environment.  

Reasonable action taken by the Library or the management team relating to the 
management and direction of workers or the workplace, within the conditions of 



 Stratford Public Library Board Policy No HR 05 | Respect in the Workplace  

the Occupational Health and Safety Act, is not workplace harassment.  

Workplace Violence 
The Library is committed to preventing workplace violence. It is ultimately responsible for worker health 
and safety. The Library will take whatever steps are necessary to protect the Library’s employees from 
workplace violence from all sources, including domestic violence. 

Workplace violence means the exercise of physical force by a person against a worker in a workplace 
that causes or could cause bodily injury to the worker.  

If the Library becomes aware, or ought to be aware, that domestic violence might occur in the 
workplace that would expose a worker to physical injury, the Library will take every reasonable 
precaution under the circumstance for the protection of the worker at risk of physical injury and 
whoever encounters that worker. 

Defining the Workplace 
For this policy, harassment, discrimination or violence may be employment-related if it occurs on the 
premises/in the working environment or off-premises if an individual is engaging in employment 
responsibilities or at a work-related function. 

Incidents that occur beyond the workplace as defined above, on social media, or outside of working 
hours may also constitute workplace violence, harassment, or discrimination. 

Roles and Responsibilities 
The CEO will develop and maintain a Respect in the Workplace program in consultation with the Joint 
Health and Safety Committee (included in the Staff Manual).  

All employees have a role in maintaining a workplace free from discrimination, harassment and violence. 
Individuals are expected to uphold and abide by this policy by refraining from harassment, 
discrimination or violence, promptly reporting concerning situations per the Respect in the Workplace 
program and cooperating fully in any harassment or discrimination complaint investigation. 

Any employee who does not take appropriate steps to prevent and respond to workplace harassment or 
discrimination may be disciplined, up to and including termination for cause. 

The management team has the additional responsibility to act immediately on observations or 
allegations of harassment or discrimination and notify the CEO. The management team is responsible 
for creating and maintaining harassment and discrimination-free organization and should address 
potential problems before they escalate. 

Any form of discrimination, harassment or violence is a serious breach of policy and is subject to 
disciplinary action up to and including termination for cause. Furthermore, some situations of 
harassment may be serious enough to constitute a criminal offence. 

Employees will not to be penalized or disciplined for reporting an incident or for participating in an 
investigation involving workplace harassment. 

Related Documents: 
• Occupational Health and Safety Act (R.S.O. 1990) 
• Human Rights Code (R.S.O. 1990) 
• HR 01 Hiring and Management of Employees 
• HR 03 Staff Manual 
• HR 04 Health and Safety Policy 
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ORIGINAL DATE ADOPTED June 15, 2010 Review Cycle Annually 
REVIEW/APPROVAL 
HISTORY 

November 6, 2018, December 5, 2023 
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